
 

 

 
APOLOGIES Committee Services   

Tel. 01621 876232   

    

Council Chamber 01621 859677   

   HEAD OF PAID SERVICE’S OFFICE 
   HEAD OF PAID SERVICE 

Richard Holmes 
    
   01 July 2019 

 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are summoned to attend the meeting of the; 
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE  
 
on TUESDAY 9 JULY 2019 at 7.30 pm. 
 
in the Council Chamber, Maldon District Council Offices, Princes Road, Maldon. 
 
A copy of the agenda is attached. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 
Head of Paid Service 

 

 

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP CHAIRMAN Councillor Miss S White 

 VICE-CHAIRMAN Councillor E L Bamford 
   

 COUNCILLORS M F L Durham, CC 

A L Hull 

J V Keyes 

N G F Shaughnessy 

R H Siddall 

N J Skeens 

Mrs J C Stilts 

C Swain 

 

 Ex-officio non-voting Members: Councillor A S Fluker 

M S Heard 

Mrs M E Thompson 
 

 

Please note: Limited hard copies of this agenda and its related papers will be available at the meeting. 

Electronic copies are available via the Council’s website. 

Unrestricted Document Pack



 

 

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK



 

Page 3 

For further information please call 01621 876232 or 875791 

or see the Council's website – www.maldon.gov.uk. 

AGENDA 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE 

TUESDAY 9 JULY 2019 

 

1. Chairman's notices   

 

2. Apologies for Absence   

 

3. Minutes of the last meeting  (Pages 5 - 14) 

 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 28 May 2019, (copy 

enclosed). 

 

4. Disclosure of Interest   

 

 To disclose the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, other 

Pecuniary Interests or Non-Pecuniary Interests relating to items of business on the 

agenda having regard to paragraphs 6-8 inclusive of the Code of Conduct for Members. 

 

(Members are reminded that they are also required to disclose any such interests as 

soon as they become aware should the need arise throughout the meeting). 

 

5. Public Participation   

 

 To receive the views of members of the public on items of business to be considered by 

the Committee (please see below): 

1. A period of ten minutes will be set aside. 

2. An individual may speak for no more than two minutes and will not be allowed 

to distribute or display papers, plans, photographs or other materials. 

3. Anyone wishing to speak must notify the Committee Clerk between 7.00pm 

and 7.20pm prior to the start of the meeting. 

 

6. Chairman's Good News Announcements   

 

7. Ecoflex Home Energy Scheme  (Pages 15 - 76) 

 

 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery, (copy enclosed). 
 

8. The Crouch Valley Festival of Food and Drink  (Pages 77 - 86) 

 

 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery and receive a presentation 

from Jack Ellum, Tourism & Events Manager, (copies enclosed). 
 

9. Any other items of business that the Chairman of the Committee decides are 

urgent   

 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/


Page 4 

For further information please call 01621 876232 or 875791 

or see the Council's website – www.maldon.gov.uk. 

10. Exclusion of the Public and Press   

 

 To resolve that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that 

they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act, and that this satisfies the public interest test. 

 

11. Advice Services Contract  (Pages 87 - 90) 

 

 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery, (copy enclosed). 
 

12. Concessions in Promenade Park  (Pages 91 - 96) 

 

 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery, (copy enclosed). 
 

 

NOTICES 

 

Sound Recording of Meeting 

Please note that the Council will be recording any part of this meeting held in open session 

for subsequent publication on the Council’s website. Members of the public attending the 

meeting with a view to speaking are deemed to be giving permission to be included in the 

recording.   

 

Fire 

In event of a fire, a siren will sound.  Please use the fire exits marked with the green running 

man.  The fire assembly point is outside the main entrance to the Council Offices.  Please 

gather there and await further instruction. 

 

Health and Safety 

Please be advised of the different levels of flooring within the Council Chamber.  There are 

steps behind the main horseshoe as well as to the side of the room.    

 

Closed-Circuit Television (CCTV) 

This meeting is being monitored and recorded by CCTV. 

 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/


 

62 

MINUTES of 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE 

28 MAY 2019 

 

PRESENT 

 

Chairman Councillor Miss S White 

Vice-Chairman Councillor E L Bamford 

Councillors M F L Durham, CC, A L Hull, J V Keyes, 

N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall, Mrs J C Stilts, C Swain and  

Mrs M E Thompson 

Ex-Officio Non-

Voting Member 

Councillors A S Fluker and M S Heard  

Substitute Councillor 

 

In Attendance 

Councillor S P Nunn 

 

Councillor R G Boyce MBE 

87. CHAIRMAN'S NOTICES  

 

The Chairman drew attention to the list of published notices on the reverse of the 

agenda. 

 

88. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTION  

 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Nick Skeens. 

 

In accordance with Procedure Rule 17, paragraph 9, Councillor S P Nunn attended as a 

substitute Councillor Nick Skeens. 

 

89. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 2 April 2019 be 

approved and confirmed. 

 

90. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST  

 

Councillor Durham declared a non-pecuniary interest as a Member of Essex County 

Council should there be any items on the agenda pertaining to that organisation. 

 

 

Unrestricted Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



63 

91. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

 

Ms Judy Lea, on behalf of the Maldon Society and with reference to Agenda Item 7 – 

Review of Performance, addressed the Committee.  

 

KCA – Work with local businesses and agencies to prepare for/implement projects for 

the Central Area Masterplan 

 

She queried why the above key council activity referred specifically to the Lower High 

Street and asked about future plans to extend the Butt Lane carpark given the additional 

parking space created by the sale of the Emporium. 

 

The Director of Service Delivery, in response, advised that the Central Area Masterplan 

extended over a 15-year period and comprised of 18 projects in all. The Lower High 

Street had been prioritised on the workplan as there was a greater need to improve 

footfall and economic prosperity in that part of the High Street. The Masterplan, once 

fully delivered, would benefit the town as a whole.   

 

With reference to the option to expand Butt Lane Carpark he advised that first and 

foremost the Council would determine the commercial viability of this project before 

taking any action. This project would be referred to the Commercial Manager to 

determine feasibility. 

 

92. CHAIRMAN'S GOOD NEWS ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

The Chairman welcomed all the new Members of the Committee to the first meeting of 

the new municipal year, and went on to report the following good news:- 

 

The Maldon Mud race 2019  

 

This was hugely successful, with record numbers of competitors running (300) and a 

huge turnout. Council Officers worked with the organiser to develop the event with a 

secondary race and a fantastic entertainment, food and drink offer. This encouraged 

more visitors to the park and increased revenue through parking income. 

 

Organisers estimated footfall in the region of 18,000 for the event which was media 

covered by BBC Essex and headline sponsored by the prestigious Porsche, who kindly 

showcased a collection of their finest vehicles at the Promenade. 

 

Splash Park 

 

In relation to the splash park she reported that it had been a successful Easter despite the 

weather not hitting the heights of the previous April / May. The Park hosted an 

estimated 2,500 children across the Easter period who thoroughly enjoyed themselves. 

It was also worth noting the positive feedback received for the recently refurbished 

Promenade beach huts, now very welcoming and quirky. 

 

Promenade Zoo 

 

Other great successes at the Prom included the Promenade Zoo, feedback had been 

fantastic, and it was again proving to be a very good addition to the location. The 

Page 6



64 

Community Engagement Team had seen the launch of schemes like ‘Junior Keepers’. 

This scheme had proved so popular that further dates had been added.  

 

Pay by phone parking 

 

Currently there was only the month of April figures to work with, customers using the 

new RingGo system made up 9% of the income collected for car parking in Maldon. 

The Chairman reported that Officers anticipate this will grow considerably in the 

summer. 

 

93. REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 2018/19  

 

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Strategy Performance and 

Governance seeking Members’ comments on the information as set out in both the 

report and appendix 1. 

 

The Director of Service Delivery took the Committee through the report noting that this 

report covered Quarter 4 (January-March 2019), supplied Members with details of 

performance against targets set for 2018-19 and demonstrated that progress was being 

achieved towards the corporate goals and the objectives detailed in the Corporate Plan 

2015-19.   

 

He informed Members that the Annual Performance report would be submitted to 

Council on 27 June 2019 and that this information was available on the Council’s 

Performance Management Risk System TEN, which all Members had access to. 

 

Addressing appendix 1 to the report the Director of Service Delivery advised the 

Committee that those performance areas under the remit of this Committee were 

contained on pages 21-27 inclusive, denoted by a yellow arrow. He then took the 

Committee through the appendix which detailed those Key Corporate Activities (KCAs) 

assessed as being ‘behind schedule’ or “at risk of not being achieved”. In response to 

questions raised by Members he responded as follows:- 

 

KCA – Establish management plans with community groups re management 

/maintenance of open spaces at Prom Park. 

 

That the management plan covered management/maintenance of a range of areas from 

green spaces to Council buildings. The Central Hub facility will be looking at all of the 

central buildings within Promenade Park itself. Once the Council had a clear indication 

of how the Central Hub facility will operate the council will draft its new Management 

Plan to include all related park elements. This will replace the current management plan. 

 

That given the recent vandalism to the glass panels at first floor level to the Lookout 

Point in Promenade Park, work had been undertaken on a new design to make it more 

secure. The proposed new design would remove the glass panels and replace them with 

half round timbers supported by steel braces. This would be a lot more robust without 

spoiling the purpose of the lookout point and the CCTV system would be replaced. 

 

 

 

Page 7



65 

KCA – Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting 

(including separate green waste) 

 

That waste was broken down into different streams and there were clear statistics for 

both household and green waste recycling respectively. It was noted that Maldon 

District Council was only responsible for monitoring statistics on doorstep collections 

and that Essex County Council monitored waste deposits at tips/recycling centres. 

 

That the statistics helpfully provided a breakdown of household waste covering the 

aforementioned categories, making it possible to easily identify those categories behind 

target.  

 

That Officers would be working on an education programme with residents to reduce 

the amount of household waste. A meeting had been arranged for early next month with 

the contractors SUEZ who have a dedicated team that work on reducing waste using a 

range of interventions, including home visits. All advice will also be available online.  

 

KCA – Work with Local Businesses and agencies to prepare for/implement projects for 

the Central Area Masterplan  

 

That the findings of the Air Quality Management Area survey would be available at the 

end of the year. Officers will review outcomes and report back on potential solutions to 

the problem.  

 

That the Future High Streets Fund would fund a comprehensive signage system 

throughout the town, not just in Butt Lane Carpark. 

 

During the discussion, where information requested was not available, the Director of 

Service Delivery agreed to respond directly to Members outside of the meeting, this 

information included: 

 

• Details of Compliments and Complaints broken down across all services areas; 

• Confirmation that a reminder was sent to the contractors regarding appropriate 

care being taken around replacing bins once emptied; 

• Reassurance that the information on Riverside Path signage was historically 

correct.  

 

In conclusion the Director of Service Delivery informed the Committee that this was the 

last time performance would be reported in this way. The new reporting system would 

operate from July 2019.      

 

RESOLVED that performance against the targets set for 2018/19 be noted.  

94. PILOT COUNTYWIDE HANDYPERSON SERVICE  

 

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery that provided 

Members with an overview of the Pilot Countywide Handyperson Service and sought 

approval for funding the membership through the Better Care Fund. 

 

The Director of Service Delivery reminded Members that whilst initially they had asked 

Officers to look at the development of a local scheme it would seem sensible at this time 

to be part of the free pilot scheme, as this may deliver the outcome desired by Members.  

Page 8



66 

Officers will review and report on the project and if necessary a separate scheme could 

still be looked at should the countywide scheme not prove to be effective within the 

Maldon District. 

 

He took the Committee through the report that highlighted a gap countywide in service 

provision relating to minor adaptations that impeded vulnerable people returning home 

from hospital without delay. The Countywide Handyperson Scheme would bridge the 

gap providing a service for minor works thereby reducing the additional costs on partner 

services. Subsequent to the meeting it was established that this scheme would cover all 

those adaptions below the threshold (£500) of the Disabled Facilities Grant Scheme 

(DFG). The scheme would include two full-time staff (including on costs) and 2 

vehicles to serve those 8 authorities wishing to take part, all funded by the Better Care 

Fund.  

 

Overall Members welcomed this scheme with some reservations, namely how jobs 

would be prioritised and how the success of the pilot would be measured. The Director 

of Service Delivery acknowledged that prioritisation would be key and should be 

addressed through the pilot experience. Performance would be determined by the 

number of successful completed interventions.   

 

He advised Members that other information around start dates, etc would be circulated 

direct to Members outside of the meeting. 

 

The Chairman put the recommendations to the Committee and they were agreed. 

 

 

RESOLVED  

 

(i) That Members noted the report and detailed information contained in appendix 

1; 

 

(ii) That Members to approved membership to join the scheme for a 1-year pilot 

period. 

 

95. APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES ON LIAISON 

COMMITTEES/PANELS  

 

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Strategy, Performance and 

Governance seeking Members’ consideration of appointment to the Committees / Panels 

as set out in the report for the ensuing municipal year and made the following proposals: 

 

Brickhouse Farm Management Committee 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors E L Bamford and Miss S White, this was seconded 

by Councillor J V Keyes.  

 

Councillor Heard then made a counter proposal of Councillor Jeanette Stilts.    

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Page 9



67 

Car Parking Task and Finish Working Group 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors M F L Durham, CC, A S Fluker, J V Keyes and 

Miss S White, this was seconded by Councillor M F L Durham, CC. 

 

Councillor Heard put forward a second proposal of Councillor Jeanette Stilts. 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Cemeteries and Crematorium Working Group 

 

The Chairman proposed that Councillors M F L Durham, CC, J V Keyes, Mrs M E 

Thompson and Miss S White. This was seconded by Councillor J V Keyes. 

 

Councillor Heard put forward a second proposal of Councillor Jeanette Stilts. 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Events Member Task and Finish Working Group 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors, E L Bamford, M F L Durham, CC, A S Fluker, R 

H Siddall and Miss S White, seconded by Councillor M F L Durham, CC. 

 

Councillor Heard proposed Councillor N G F Shaughnessy.  

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors E L Bamford and Miss S White. This was 

seconded by Councillor J V Keyes. 

 

Councillor Heard proposed Councillor C Swain. 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Maldon Citizens Advice Bureau Liaison Committee 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors E L Bamford, A L Hull and Miss S White. This 

was seconded by Councillor J V Keyes. 

 

Councillor Head proposed Councillor N G F Shaughnessy. 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

 

 

Page 10



68 

Maldon District Museum Liaison Committee 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors E L Bamford and Miss S White. This was 

seconded by Councillor J V Keyes. 

 

Councillor Heard proposed Councillor N Skeens. 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Maldon Market Member Task and Finish Working Group 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors E L Bamford, J V Keyes, Mrs M E Thompson and 

Miss S White, seconded by Councillor J V  Keyes. 

 

Councillor Heard proposed Councillor N G F Shaughnessy. 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Places for People Liaison Committee 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors E L Bamford and Miss S White with a substitute of 

Mrs M E Thompson, seconded by Councillor M F L Durham, CC. 

 

Councillor Heard proposed Councillor N Skeens 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Waste Member Task and Finish Working Group 

 

The Chairman proposed Councillors E L Bamford, M F L Durham, CC, A S Fluker and 

Miss S White This was seconded by Councillor J V Keyes 

 

Councillor Heard proposed Councillor C Swain. 

 

The Chairman put the first proposal to the Committee and upon a vote being taken it 

was carried. 

 

Councillor Heard wished it noted that he was disappointed with the decision of this 

Committee regarding the aforementioned item of business. 

 

RESOLVED that the appointments to the following bodies be agreed for the Municipal 

Year 2019/20. 

 

Body 2019 /20 Representative(s) 

Brickhouse Farm Management Committee 
Councillors E L Bamford and Miss S 

White 

Car Parking Task and Finish Working Group 

 

(Minute 588 – 17/11/15) 

Councillors M F L Durham CC,  

A S Fluker, J V Keyes and Miss S White 

Page 11



69 

Body 2019 /20 Representative(s) 

Cemeteries and Crematorium Working Group 
Councillor M F L Durham, J V Keyes. 

Mrs M E Thompson and Miss S White 

Events Member Task and Finish Working 

Group  

(Minute 941 – 27/03/18) 

Councillors E L Bamford, M F L 

Durham, CC, A S Fluker, R H Siddall 

and Miss S White 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(HOSC) 

Councillors E L Bamford and Miss S 

White 

Maldon Citizens Advice Bureau Liaison 

Committee 

Councillors E L Bamford,  A L Hull and 

Miss S White 

Maldon District Museum Liaison 

Committee 

Councillors E L Bamford and  

Miss S White 

Maldon Market Member Task and Finish 

Working Group 

(Minute 612 – 21/11/17) 

Councillors E L Bamford, J V Keyes, 

Mrs M E Thompson and Miss S White 

Places for People Liaison Committee 

Councillors E L Bamford and Miss S 

White  

Substitute: Councillor Mrs M E 

Thompson 

Waste Member Task and Finish Working 

Group 

(Minute 945 – 27/03/18) 

Councillors E L Bamford, M F L 

Durham, CC, A S Fluker and Miss S 

White. 

 

96. MEMORIALS IN CEMETERIES, PARKS AND OPEN SPACES POLICY  

 

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery that updated 

Members on the Council Policy (at appendix 1) around Memorials in Cemeteries, Parks 

and Open Spaces. 

 

The Director of Service Delivery introduced the report and reminded Members that the 

policy was being reviewed to ensure that concerns raised previously, around memorial 

benches specifically, were addressed in the policy. He deferred to the Countryside and 

Coast Manager to go through the relevant detail of the policy.  

 

The Countryside and Coast Manager took Members through Section 3. Operation of the 

Policy (attached at appendix 1 to the report). This section clarified areas of 

responsibility; length of lease, when ownership reverted and issues around both 

installation and removal of benches as follows:- 

 

 A bench was purchased for a period of five years through a formal application 

process; 

 All bench installations were undertaken by the Council unless permission ‘is 

granted by written consent’; 

 Memorial benches have an expected minimum life of five years and will not be 

maintained by the Council. After this time the bench may need to be removed. 

Applicants will be given the option to replace the bench with a new one at full 

cost, or relinquish the site; 

 Memorial benches will be of a type, colour and construction specified by the 

Council to be in keeping with the intended location 

 

Page 12



70 

In response to further questions he advised:-  

 

 that it was the Council’s responsibility to ensure, through appropriate 

monitoring, that applicants maintained the benches. Should they be damaged 

through vandalism the Council’s in-house team would undertake the repairs. 

  

 that the preferred material was timber, which was in keeping with most intended 

locations.   

 

 that, with reference to the option to maintain plaques on a memorial wall, he 

would circulate the report that went to the previous Committee outlining the 

recommendations for memorial walls. 

 

It was concluded that the policy covered all the pertinent areas and that the memorial 

bench scheme represented good value and dealt with the process sensitively  

 

The Chairman put the recommendations to the Committee and they were agreed. 

 

RESOLVED  

 

(i) That Officers can re-open applications for benches within Maldon District  

Council Parks & Open Spaces, but only where there are ‘voids’ on existing 

bench bases or replacement benches are required. No new locations are to be 

permitted prior to review of demand & supply proposed for April 2022. 

 

(ii) That Members confirm that the existing Memorials in Cemeteries, Parks and 

 Open Spaces Policy meets the needs of our residents. 

 

97. VERBAL UPDATE ON THE ROUNDABOUT SPONSORSHIP SCHEME  

 

The Director of Service Delivery asked the Countryside and Coast Manager to update 

Members on recent discussions regarding the Roundabout Sponsorship Scheme  

 

The Countryside and Coast Manager advised that the outcome from meetings with the 

Head of Commissioning for Public Realm and Essex Highways had been positive. It 

had been confirmed that all reasonable costs can be extracted from the payments for 

roundabout sponsorship prior to the Council passing on a percentage to the County 

Council. This was in accordance with the scheme criteria. 

 

In response to a question about separate sponsorship for a particular roundabout he said 

he would check with the County Council as those that came within the ownership of 

Maldon District Council (MDC) were clearly defined as the responsibility of MDC. 

 

98. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 

URGENT  

 

There being no further items of business the Chairman closed the meeting at 8.38 pm. 

 

MISS S WHITE 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 

Agenda Item no. 7 
Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 

DIRECTOR OF SERVICE DELIVERY 

to 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE 

9
th

 July 2019 

 

ECOFLEX HOME ENERGY SCHEME  

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

 To provide an overview of the updated Ecoflex “Help to Heat” scheme; to seek 1.1

Member approval of an updated statement of intent for the Maldon District and the 

ability to work with a third party delivery partner. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

(i) That details of the scheme and the potential benefits to those in fuel poverty in 

the District are noted; 

 

(ii) That the proposed statement of intent is agreed; 

 

(iii) That a third party is engaged as a business partner to deliver the scheme. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 

 In January 2013, as part of a raft of measures supporting the Green Deal, the 3.1

Government introduced the “Energy Companies Obligation” (ECO), with an aim to 

reduce the UK’s energy consumption, lower energy bills and support people living in 

fuel poverty.  The scheme places an obligation on energy suppliers to fund a quota of 

home energy efficiency improvements each year. 

 

 Following a period of consultation the ECO scheme was updated in 2017 providing 3.2

energy efficiency funding for the most vulnerable households.  That scheme ran from 

April 2017 to 30 September 2018. 

 

 In April 2017 new Government guidance was issued, recognising the important role 3.3

local authorities have in relation to fuel poverty and setting out opportunities for 

engagement with energy suppliers to help meet their obligations.  The Guidance 

introduced a new flexible approach through which local authorities could refer 

households to suppliers.  The “Help to Heat” scheme included a “Flexible Eligibility” 

component which allowed local authorities to set their own criteria in targeting fuel 

poverty in their areas.  This new component sat alongside the main ECO scheme and 

was able to support those who had hitherto fallen outside of the previous stringent 

criteria.  

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item no. 7 
 

 Local authorities who wished to participate in flexible eligibility were required to 3.4

publish a Statement of Intent (SoI), defining the criteria they intend to use to identify 

households that might benefit from the scheme.  Maldon District Council (MDC) did 

so and this commenced in January 2018.  A copy of that SoI is set out in APPENDIX 

A. 

 

 In March 2018 a further period of Government consultation was held and the ECO 3.5

scheme was updated to commence from October 2018.  The main impact for Local 

Authorities of the updated scheme was that the Flexible Eligibility element of the 

ECO scheme was increased from a maximum of 10% of ECO installations undertaken 

by energy providers to a maximum of 25%.  This means that more properties and 

therefore more residents are capable of assistance through the scheme. 

 

 Whilst the new scheme came in to force officially on 3
rd

 December 2018 new 3.6

Government guidance was not issued until February (2019) setting out arrangements 

for the new scheme, including SoIs.  The guidance states that new ECO Flex works 

can only be approved under the ECO3 scheme once an SoI has been published.  For 

this reason, because of the departure of a signatory to the previous SoI, in order to 

reflect the latest guidance published by BEIS, and to align the SoI with the new 

Officer structure of the Authority, it is both necessary and appropriate to publish a 

new SoI at this time.  A copy of the proposed new SoI is provided at APPENDIX B 

and Energy Company Obligation: ECO3, 2018-22 Flexible Eligibility Guidance at 

APPENDIX C.  
 

 As required by the guidance the proposed Statement of Intent includes: 3.7

 

 The criteria for identifying those properties in private tenure and households in 

fuel poverty including low income, poor energy performance, inefficient heating 

types and resultant high energy bills. 

 

 The criteria for identifying low income households with vulnerability to cold, 

including those over 65 or with children under 5, those with cardiovascular 

disease and / or one of the numerous health issues potentially caused or 

aggravated by cold homes.  

 

 Details of scheme requirement for Solid Wall Insulation “in-fill” projects and 

whether it is intended to facilitate solid wall insulation, including households that 

are not in fuel poverty or vulnerable. 

 

 To be clear, as previously, MDC does not have to contribute any funding towards 3.8

delivery of these schemes.  The finance comes from the energy companies (hence the 

“Energy Company Obligation” (ECO)).  Our role in the “Flexible Eligibility” element 

of the scheme is to act as an arbiter for those applicants who may fall outside of the 

standard ECO criteria but who are still on a low income AND either in a hard to heat 

property (i.e. fuel poverty) or vulnerable to cold.  These people may be on low 

incomes, but not necessarily in receipt of benefits and it is persons in those situations 

that the flexible element seeks to assist. 

 

 The Council does not have a dedicated resource for promoting and delivering energy 3.9

efficiency opportunities and has previously worked with an accredited Green Deal 

Provider. 

Page 16



Agenda Item no. 7 
 

4. CONCLUSION 

 

 The flexible eligibility element of the Energy Company Obligation allows local 4.1

authorities to tailor funding opportunities for energy efficiency measures to meet the 

needs of our most vulnerable households.  Many of these will not have benefitted 

from earlier ECO offers due to the 10% capping of the flexible eligibility funding 

rules.  The proposed Statement of Intent appended to this report provides a clear 

mechanism for identifying the most vulnerable residents, making an important 

contribution to their health and wellbeing, and ensuring that we can take advantage of 

the latest scheme.  Working with a Green Deal Provider will provide access to a broad 

funding pool and enable delivery of much needed energy efficiency measures with 

only minimal input from Council officers. 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 

 Helping to deliver affordable warmth schemes to those most in need contributes to the 5.1

corporate strategic theme of “ working with communities and partners to support our 

health and wellbeing priorities”, specifically older people’s health. 

 

6. IMPLICATIONS 

 

(iv) Impact on Customers – The proposed scheme will deliver more affordable 

warmth and greater disposable income with accompanying benefits to health 

and wellbeing. 

(v) Impact on Equalities – Access to the scheme’s funding pot has broadened in 

this new round of ECO funding and is now available to more people through 

flexible eligibility. 

(vi) Impact on Risk – Based upon the limited uptake of the previous scheme it is 

unlikely that there will be insufficient funds from energy companies to 

complete the project.  However, the provider will monitor demand and 

manage customer expectations and the SoI makes it clear that acceptance 

under EcoFlex is not a guarantee of works.  This is well documented in the 

promotional detail and the importance of managing expectations is 

understood. 

(vii) Impact on Resources (financial) – None, the scheme is fully funded with no 

contribution required from Maldon District Council. 

(viii) Impact on Resources (human) – None, the installer has agreed to fund any 

mail out as part of the promotion of the scheme as well as handle all enquiries 

and contact with the customer.  Any calls that do reach the Council can be 

dealt with using existing resources. 

(ix) Impact on the Environment – The scheme provides a positive environmental 

impact on the environment by reducing energy consumption and reducing CO2 
emissions. 

 

Background Papers: None 

Enquiries to: Chris Shipham, Environmental Protection Team Leader (01621 875863) 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



  APPENDIX A 
 

1 
 

Energy Company Obligation: Help to Heat 

Local Authority Flexible Eligibility Statement of Intent 

Maldon District Council 

Date of publication: 10 January 2018 

 

1) Introduction 

Maldon District Council welcomes the introduction of Flexible Eligibility (FE) and intends to 

utilise it for the purposes of reducing fuel poverty in the district.  

It should be noted that the final decision on whether any individual household will benefit 

from energy saving improvements rests with obligated energy suppliers or their contractors. 

Inclusion in a Declaration of Eligibility issued by the Council to a supplier will not guarantee 

installation of measures. The final decision will depend on i) identification of measures 

eligible under Help to Heat ii) the supplier’s assessment of the cost-effectiveness of installing 

measures in relation to achieving its obligation, and iii) whether the supplier has achieved 

their targets or require further measures to meet their Energy Company Obligation targets.  

In identifying households as eligible under flexible eligibility Maldon District Council is 

seeking to enable residents to benefit from funding and will seek the consent of households 

which will be included in the Declaration. Maldon District Council expects any obligated 

energy supplier, or contractor working on their behalf, to comply with the Data Protection 

Act, to fully follow Ofgem requirements for the Energy Company Obligation Help to Heat, 

and to act in accordance with industry best practice in relation to consumer care and quality 

standards of any works that may take place.  These are covered in a separate memorandum 

of understanding between the Council and the approved accredited Energy Company 

Obligation funder.  

2) How  Maldon District Council intends to identify eligible households  

Maldon District Council will identify households that may benefit from flexible eligibility in a 

number of ways: 

a. Identifying fuel poverty 

Subject to availability of resources within the Council and the legal use of data the Council 

will target those most in need having regard to BEIS guidance on targeting, including: 

i. Those living in private sector and in receipt of the relevant means-tested benefits 

and/or on a low income 

ii. We will cross-reference data on income with data that we hold or can access on 

Energy Performance Certificates, prepayment meters, expenditure on fuel, 

housing type/age/condition, heating type 

iii. Low income households living in energy inefficient housing will be identified in the 

private rented sector through enforcement activity under the Housing Act 2004 

 

Page 19



  APPENDIX A 
 

2 
 

b. Identifying low income and vulnerability to cold 

Maldon District Council will target households containing people with the following 

characteristics, which reflects the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

2015 guidance on excess winter deaths and illness caused by cold homes.  

i. Aged over 60, and particularly those over 75 

ii. Children under 5 and pregnant mothers  

iii. Respiratory disease (COPD, asthma) 

iv. Cardiovascular disease (e.g. ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease) 

v. Moderate to severe mental illness (e.g. schizophrenia, bipolar disorder) 

vi. Substance misusers  

vii. Dementia 

viii. Neurobiological and related diseases (e.g. fibromyalgia, ME) 

ix. Cancer  

x. Limited mobility  

xi. Haemoglobinopathies (sickle cell disease, thalassaemia) 

xii. Severe learning disabilities  

xiii. Autoimmune and immunodeficiency diseases (e.g. lupus, MS, diabetes, HIV) 

 

c. Solid wall insulation “in-fill” projects 

 

Where potential works have been identified households will be supported to take advantage 

of “in-fill” projects where the minimum number of vulnerable households is met.  

 

3) Evidence, monitoring and reporting 

Maldon District Council will ensure appropriate referral processes are in place while 

maintaining the protection of personal data. This will include identification of eligible 

households using national and local statistical data. We will also work with partner agencies 

to determine those that may be vulnerable due to living in a cold home and/or suffering from 

a qualifying medical condition. 

4) Governance 

Responsible officer/s 

The Statement of Intent (SOI) will be signed on behalf of Maldon District Council by: 

 

Paul Dodson 

Director of Planning & Regulatory Services 

 

Signature……………………………………………………….. 10 January 2018 

 

Declarations will be signed on behalf of Maldon District Council by: 

 

John Fairweather 

Environmental Health Officer 

 

Signature………………………………………………………… 4 January 2018 

Page 20



  APPENDIX B 
 

1 
 

Energy Company Obligation: Help to Heat 

Local Authority Flexible Eligibility Statement of Intent (Version 2) 

Maldon District Council 

Date of publication: 1st May 2019 

1) Introduction 

Maldon District Council welcomes the introduction of Flexible Eligibility (FE) and intends to 

utilise it for the purposes of reducing fuel poverty in the district.  We are fully supportive of 

the ECO 3 scheme launched in October 2018 by Government and this statement sets out 

the Authority’s position with respect to “flexible eligibility”. 

It should be noted that the final decision on whether any individual household will benefit 

from energy saving improvements rests with obligated energy suppliers or their contractors. 

Inclusion in a Declaration of Eligibility issued by the Council to a supplier will not guarantee 

installation of measures. The final decision will depend on i) survey carried out by suppliers 

agents/contractors and installation costs calculated, ii) the energy savings that can be 

achieved for a property, and iii) whether suppliers have achieved their targets or require 

further measures to meet their Energy Company Obligation targets. 

In identifying households as eligible under flexible eligibility Maldon District Council is 

seeking to enable residents to benefit from funding and will seek the consent of households 

which will be included in the Declaration. Maldon District Council expects any obligated 

energy supplier, or contractor working on their behalf, to comply with the Data Protection 

Act, General Data Protection Regulations and to fully follow Ofgem requirements for the 

Energy Company Obligation Help to Heat, and to act in accordance with industry best 

practice in relation to consumer care and quality standards of any works that may take place.  

These are covered in a separate memorandum of understanding between the Council and 

the approved accredited Energy Company Obligation funder. 

Residents of Social Housing should contact their Housing provider in the first instance 

because there is a specific part of the energy company obligation scheme that applies to 

Social Housing.  Maldon District Council is unable to recommend Flexible Eligibility funding 

for Social Housing properties. 

Likewise, we do not specifically intend to target those in the private sector on benefits for 

flexible eligibility as these households are captured under the Affordable Warmth Help to 

Heat portion of ECO3. 

2) How  Maldon District Council intends to identify eligible households  

Maldon District Council will identify households that may benefit from flexible eligibility in a 

number of ways and which have taken account of The Department for Business, Energy and 

Industrial Strategy Energy Company Obligation: ECO3, 2018-22 Flexible Eligibility Guidance 

(February 2019). 

Households in receipt of an income-related benefit are considered as part of the ECO3 

obligation and consequently are not eligible for consideration as part of the ECO3 Flex 

scheme. 

Page 21



  APPENDIX B 
 

2 
 

For ECO3 Flex consideration will be given to those living in private tenure.  Households not 

in receipt of income related benefit will be assessed using the below income thresholds: 

Household composition  Annual Household 
Income 

Monthly Household 
Income Equivalent 

1 Adult  £ 9,300  £ 775 

and 1 child  £ 12,200  £ 1017 

and 2 child  £ 15,000  £ 1250 

and 3 child  £ 18,000  £ 1500 

and 4+ child  £ 21,000  £ 1750 

2 Adults  £ 15,200  £ 1267 

and 1 child  £ 18,200 £ 1517 

and 2 child  £ 21,100  £ 1758 

and 3 child  £ 24,100  £ 2008 

and 4+ child  £ 26,800  £ 2233 
The Annual Household Income here is defined as a household’s disposable income after they have 

paid for their rent or mortgage. This comprises income from all sources, such as net earnings (after 

tax), income from savings and investments, pensions, all benefits (including housing benefit), and net 

council tax payments. 

The above thresholds are set in accordance with the recommended thresholds contained in 

Table 1, Annex 6 of the BEIS guidance on ECO3 Flexible Eligibility (February 2019). 

 If a household has an income under these thresholds, depending on composition, then it 
will be identified as being ‘low income’  

 

 The Council will cross reference data which they hold in their House Condition Surveys 
or can access on Energy Performance Certificates/SAP ratings. 

 

 Low income households living in energy inefficient housing in the private  
rented sector will be identified through enforcement activity under the Housing Act 2004. 

 
Please be aware that the annual household incomes given are after rent/mortgage and 

Council Tax have been deducted. 

To potentially qualify for ECOFlex3 funding, the applicant household must be on a low 

income, as per the identified criteria above and satisfy either of the following: 

Eligibility A) Low income AND Living in Fuel Poverty (High Cost) 

To potentially be eligible for flexible eligibility, the property involved must ALSO have an 

EPC rating of D or worse.  If no EPC is available then a decision will be made on a case-by-

case basis by this Authority as to whether or not the “high cost” element exists and 

consequently whether or not an application may be eligible for ECO3 Flex funding. 

 

Eligibility B) Low income AND vulnerability to cold 

To potentially be eligible for flexible eligibility the property involved must ALSO have at least 

one resident at the applicant property that has a condition specified in the list below.  These 

are broadly based upon NICE guideline NG6 on “Excess winter deaths and illness and the 

health risk associated with cold homes”: 

Page 22



  APPENDIX B 
 

3 
 

 people with cardiovascular conditions (e.g. ischaemeic heart disease, cerebrovascular 
disease) 

 people with respiratory conditions (in particular, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
and asthma)  

 people with mental health conditions (e.g. schizophrenia, bipolar disorder) 
 Neurobiological and related disease (e.g. fibromyalgia, ME) 
 Haemoglobinopathies (sickle cell disease, thalassaemia) 
 Autoimmune and immunodeficiency diseases (e.g. lupus, MS, diabetes, HIV). 
 Cancer 
 people with disabilities 
 people with limited mobility 
 older people (65 and older) 
 young children (under 5) 
 pregnant women 
 people with addictions 
 people who have attended hospital due to a fall 
 recent immigrants and asylum seekers. 
 People who are terminally ill. 
 

Solid wall insulation “in-fill” projects 

Where potential works have been identified households will be supported to take advantage 

of “in-fill” projects where the minimum number of vulnerable households is met.  

 

3) Evidence, monitoring and reporting 

Maldon District Council will ensure appropriate referral processes are in place while 

maintaining the protection of personal data. This will include identification of eligible 

households using national and local statistical data. We will also work with partner agencies 

to determine those that may be vulnerable due to living in a cold home and/or suffering from 

a qualifying medical condition. 

4) Governance 

Responsible officer/s 

The Statement of Intent (SOI) will be signed on behalf of Maldon District Council by: 

 

Richard Holmes 

Director of Service Delivery 

 

Signature……………………………………………………….. 1st May 2019 

 

Declarations will be signed on behalf of Maldon District Council by: 

 

Lead Specialist (Community) or Environmental Protection Team Leader/Senior Specialist 

(Community) or, in their absence, by, Environmental Health Officers or Specialist(s) 

(Community – Environmental Health) 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



  

ENERGY COMPANY 
OBLIGATION: ECO3,  
2018 – 22 FLEXIBLE 
ELIGIBILITY GUIDANCE 

Guidance for local authorities on engaging 
with energy suppliers to identify households 
that would benefit from energy efficiency 
improvements  

      

February 2019 
 

Page 25

Berna
Typewritten Text

Berna_1
Typewritten Text

Berna_2
Typewritten Text

Berna_3
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX C

Berna_4
Typewritten Text

Berna_5
Typewritten Text

Berna_6
Typewritten Text



 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction _______________________________________________________ 2 

2. Changes Since Flexible Eligibility guidance April 2017 ______________________ 4 

3. Key requirements __________________________________________________ 5 

4. Key roles and responsibilities _________________________________________ 10 

5. Statement of Intent _________________________________________________ 12 

6. LA declaration _____________________________________________________ 16 

7. Targeting flexible eligibility ___________________________________________ 19 

8. Annual reports and keeping evidence ___________________________________ 24 

9. Working with energy suppliers and intermediaries _________________________ 26 

10. Data protection   __________________________________________________ 29 

Annex 1: Affordable Warmth household eligibility _____________________________ 1 

Annex 2: Flexible eligibility process map ____________________________________ 2 

Annex 3: Statement of Intent template  _____________________________________ 1 

Annex 4: ECO 3 LA Declaration template  ___________________________________ 4 

Annex 5: ECO 3 LA Declaration template for “in-fill”  ___________________________ 6 

Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households ___________________________________ 8 

Annex 7: Identifying vulnerability to cold ____________________________________ 15 

Annex 8: In-fill – examples  ______________________________________________ 17 
 

 

 

Page 26



Introduction 

2 

1. Introduction  

1. This guidance note sets out opportunities for local authorities (hereinafter “LAs”) to 
engage with energy suppliers on how suppliers meet their obligations to install energy 
efficiency measures in homes under the Energy Company Obligation. It is intended to 
build on the flexible approach introduced in April 2017.  The flexibility arises because 
LAs are able to define the eligible households living in, or at risk of fuel poverty and 
have some latitude to go beyond that, where they find households vulnerable to the 
effect of cold homes. The aim is to allow this approach to work in a straightforward way, 
with a main focus on two documents from LAs: a Statement of Intent from an LA (or 
group of LAs) that they are going to identify households as eligible, and the criteria they 
are going to use; and a declaration that the LA has been consulted on the installation 
of measures in a home.  

2. The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is an obligation on energy suppliers aimed at 
helping households cut their energy bills and reduce carbon emissions by installing 
energy saving measures. As of September 2018, it has delivered over 2.4 million 
measures in around 1.9 million households.   

3. ECO3 will continue until March 2022 at a real-terms value of £640m per annum (in 
2017 prices) and is focused fully on low income and vulnerable households. The 
Clean Growth Strategy announced that Government would extend support for home 
energy efficiency to 2028 at least at the current level of ECO funding.  

4. The flexible approach to identifying eligible households was introduced in April 2017. 
This approach for LAs will continue into the new scheme, under the ECO Order 2018.  

5. Under the ECO scheme that ended September 2018, energy suppliers were able to 
achieve up to 10% of their Affordable Warmth1 obligation by installing energy saving 
measures in households declared eligible by LAs.  

6. Under ECO3 energy suppliers are able to meet up to 25% of their obligation under LA-
Flex (estimated value of around £560m over the obligation period). Given the much 
higher ambition for LA-Flex, it is even more important that it achieves its objectives of 
reaching fuel poor and vulnerable households; the finite targets for energy suppliers 
mean that, for each home treated which is not in those categories, a household in 
greater need is likely to miss out. The effectiveness of LA-Flex is likely to influence 
decisions about future energy efficiency schemes. 

7. The most benefit to society, and the individual will be achieved if ECO reaches low 
income households who have physical and/or mental health issues caused or 
exacerbated by living in a cold home. This approach relies on LAs having mechanisms 
in place to identify such households, for example GP or hospital referrals.  

8. The eligibility requirements under the LA Flex element of ECO are illustrated in Annex 
1. LA Flex is optional, and suppliers are not mandated to participate in order to meet 

 
1 Affordable Warmth is also known as the Home Heating Cost Reduction Obligation (HHCRO). 

Page 27



Introduction 

3 

their obligations.  However, LA’s participating under LA-Flex are expected to follow this 
guidance.  

9. There are two main categories of private tenure household that Government intends to 
be eligible through flexible eligibility:  

i. Fuel poor households, especially those on low income and not in receipt of ECO 
eligible benefits; and  

ii. Low income households that are vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home 
10. Please do read this guidance carefully and if you have queries relating to it, then they 

can be raised with the ECO Team in BEIS at: beisecoteam@beis.gov.uk. 

11. This guidance is aimed at supporting LAs who wish to start participating in the scheme, 
and those that are already participating in the scheme.  Furthermore, it aims to help 
LAs make informed decisions on the criteria to use when identifying eligible households 
under flexible eligibility. LAs may decide to follow this guidance when developing their 
targeting criteria, or develop their own methodology to identify eligible households 
based on local data and tools.   
 

 

  

Page 28

mailto:beisecoteam@beis.gov.uk


Key changes in this document since publication of Flexible Eligibility guidance April 2017 

4 

2. Key changes in this document since 
publication of Flexible Eligibility 
guidance April 2017         

1. All declarations and measures delivered from 1 October 2018 will need to meet LA 
Flex ECO3 requirements.     
 

2. New timescales for declaration validity for ECO3 (Chapter 5 page 16) 
 

3. New simplified in-fill requirements relating to solid wall insulation, with up to 50% of 
eligible households able to qualify under ECO3.  (Annex 8)  
 

4. Good practice demonstrated in SoIs (Chapter 3) 
 

5. Practices in SoIs that LAs should be mindful of (Chapter 3) 
 

6. Simplified guidance on low income thresholds (Annex 6) 

Page 29



Key requirements 

5 

3. Key requirements  

12. The key requirements of LA-Flex are set out in the ECO Order 2018 (Article.17) and 
are summarised in the table below.  

13. To aid LAs in the use of LA-Flex, Government has developed a ‘process map’ providing 
an overview of the key steps involved (see Annex 2). 

14. Ofgem, the administrator of the ECO scheme, has published separate guidance2  for 
energy suppliers on the evidence they will need to provide when notifying LA-Flex 
measures. 
 

 Flexible eligibility - key requirements 

Statement 
of Intent  

• LAs participating in LA-Flex must publish a Statement of Intent (SoI) in which 
they set out the criteria they intend to use to identify households meeting the 
eligibility criteria for flexible eligibility. This is a mandatory requirement.  

• LAs will have to publish an SoI before they can issue declarations of eligibility 
under LA-Flex (Article.17) of the 2018 Order.  

• The SoI has one mandatory section which is where the LA states how they 
intend to target eligible households (Article.17) of the 2018 Order 

LA 
declaration  

• This is a statement in writing (‘declaration’) that a household is eligible for 
support.  

• The ECO Order states that LAs must be consulted on the installation of a 
measure under LA-Flex by suppliers, or their intermediaries. Ofgem’s guidance 
states that LAs must be consulted prior to the installation, however LA 
declarations can be made before or after the installation of measures. 

• LAs should evidence that they have been consulted through a declaration. We 
strongly recommend that LAs use the template provided in Annex 4 and 5.  

• Signed declarations under ECO3 will be valid for 18 months from the date of 
signature or until the 31st March 2022, whichever comes soonest, providing 
there is a valid SoI in place.  

Local 
authority 
definition  

• Only LAs can sign and issue declarations of eligibility, identifying households 
as meeting the eligibility criteria as defined under their published SoI. 

• The definition of LAs for the purposes of LA-Flex can be found in Article. 2 of 
the ECO Order.  

• LAs can delegate their functions to other LAs.  

 
2 Ofgem guidance is available here: https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-

guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance  

Page 30

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance


Key requirements 

6 

Household 
eligibility  
criteria  

• LAs must specify how they intend to identify households (i.e. what criteria they 
will use) that may benefit from an energy saving measure under flexible 
eligibility in a Statement of Intent, as set out in (Article.17(5)). 

• As set out in Article 17(1)(a)of the Order, under LA-Flex, LAs must only target 
owner occupied premises, and certain private rented premises (Article 17 
(2)(a)) and certain EPC unrated premises (Article 17 (3)(a)) 

• As set out in Article 17(1)(c), 17(4)(c) and (d), and 17(5), eligible households 
must be either:  

o Living in fuel poverty  

o Living on a low income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold 
home  

• Furthermore, as set out under Article 17(4)(d), “in-fill” properties for the 
purposes of solid wall insulation are eligible. (see chapter 7 for definition of “in-
fill”).  

• LAs have flexibility on the criteria they use to identify these households.   
However, the scope of flexibility must include a household that combines Low 
Income and High Costs (i.e. fuel poverty (FP)) or Low Income and Vulnerable 
to Cold (LIVC).   The illustration below demonstrates how a household might 
qualify under LA-Flex. 

 
 

• The illustration below demonstrates combinations that do not meet the 
requirement for a valid declaration under ECO Flex, as the correct combination 
criteria have not been used, i.e. low income criteria has not been taken into 
account. Combinations of high heating bills, low EPC ratings (irrespective of 
band) or vulnerability to cold do not meet the eligibility criteria.  

• The policy is designed to help those that are living on a low income with a 
combination of either living in fuel poverty, OR low income and whose 
vulnerability is exasperated by living in a cold home.  

 

Page 31



Key requirements 

7 

BEIS strongly recommends that LAs consider this guidance when updating or 
publishing SoIs.  

What could constitute a low income household (LI)? Some examples: 

• Determining income levels could be achieved by using low income 
thresholds in line with this guidance, focusing on those not on means 
tested benefits; and/or  

• Other proxies that LAs consider determine low income in their area.  It is 
expected that these proxies are tailored and specific. 
 

What could constitute a high cost household (HC)?  Some examples: 

• EPC Band E, F or G 
• Determining high cost, by using the high cost questionnaire in this 

guidance (Annex 6)  
• Households living in non-standard construction and poorly performing 

homes.  
• Other proxies that LAs consider determine high cost households in their 

area.  It is expected that these proxies are tailored and specific.  

 
What could constitute a vulnerable to cold household (VC)?  Some 
examples: 

• Health conditions or illnesses that may be exacerbated by living in a cold 
home 

• Age 70 or above 
• Children aged below 5 
• Other proxies that LAs consider identify households that are vulnerable to 

cold in their local area.  It is expected that these proxies are tailored and 
specific. 
 

When establishing whether households meet the fuel poverty criteria, eligibility for 
FP and LIVC should not be combined.     

LAs may use various tools to target households and may find the Toolkit on Fuel 
Poverty helpful3. 

Fuel 
Poverty  

LAs have flexibility on the criteria they use to identify households living in fuel 
poverty.    

Government intends LA-Flex to identify those in fuel poverty who are not in receipt 
of benefits eligible under Affordable Warmth4. 

Guidance on how to identify households in fuel poverty is included in Annex 6.  

 
Tips on identifying FP clearly in SoIs 

A. Separate indicators must be used to establish a Low Income (LI) 
household. For example, using income thresholds, or other methods of 
determining income.  

B. In addition to this a separate indicator must be used to determine a High 
Cost (HC) household.   

 
3 https://hub.communityenergyengland.org/resources/resource/259/local-authority-toolkit-on-fuel-poverty/ 
 
4 Schedule 2 of the ECO3 Order 
 

Page 32

https://hub.communityenergyengland.org/resources/resource/259/local-authority-toolkit-on-fuel-poverty/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111171769/pdfs/ukdsi_9780111171769_en.pdf


Key requirements 

8 

A and B must be combined in order to meet FP criteria.  If these are not combined, 
it does not meet requirements under Article 17 of the ECO Order.    

In addition to this, LAs may use certain proxies that meet both low income and high 
cost for targeting those in or at risk of fuel poverty.  Examples include: 

C. Any household on EPC Band rating E, F or G. 
D. Hard to treat properties, of a non-standard construction, combined with low 

income.  
 

Tips on criteria that LAs should avoid in their SoIs, as a means for meeting 
FP: 

• Using an Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMDs) as a single proxy; 
• Income levels significantly above those in this guidance unless local needs 

(e.g. high cost of living) justify this and are clearly set out in the SoI; 

Setting requirements to meet vulnerable to cold criteria. If they meet FP, there is no 
need to also meet LIVC, and vice versa. Households are not required to meet both 
FP & LIVC criteria.  These are tips and examples, but LAs may use other 
approaches tailored to local needs.  

Low 
income and 
vulnerable  

LAs have flexibility on the criteria they use to identify households living on a low 
income and who are vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home.  

LA-Flex is intended to help LAs assist those living on a low income and who are 
vulnerable to the cold, for example those with a health condition, or the very old or 
the very young. Those identified should meet both the low income and vulnerable 
criteria. 

Guidance on how to identify households on a low income and vulnerable to cold is 
included in Chapter 7. 

Tips for identifying LIVC clearly in households 
A. Separate indicators must be used to establish a Low Income (LI) 

household. For example, using income thresholds, or other methods of 
determining income.  

B. In addition to this, a separate indicator must be used to determine a 
household with one or more individuals that are vulnerable to living in a 
cold home (VC).  

A and B must be combined in order to meet the LIVC criteria.  If these are not 
combined, it does not meet requirements under Article 17 (1)(c)(ii). 

In addition to this, LAs may use certain proxies that meet both low income and 
vulnerable to the cold for targeting those in or at risk of living in fuel poverty.  
Examples include: 

 
C. Referrals from other organisations– setting out the accepted route in the 

SoI.  
D. Referrals triaged through LA’s own schemes, to also be eligible for LA-

Flex. 

Tips on criteria that LAs should avoid in their SoIs, as a means of identifying 
LIVC: 

• Using age as a single proxy to meet LIVC. LIVC needs to include an LI 
indicator; 

• Requiring those meeting LIVC to also meet FP and vice versa.  This is not 
a requirement.  

Page 33



Key requirements 

9 

In-fill  LAs can make declarations of eligibility for households that do not meet the 
eligibility criteria to facilitate solid wall insulation within the limits and proportions 
set out in Art 17 of the Order and as explained in Chapter 7 and Annex 8.  

Private 
tenure 

As set out in Art 17, flexible eligibility only covers private tenure households.  
Furthermore, there is a restriction on private rented properties, to reflect the 
separate landlord requirements to meet the minimum energy efficiency standards 
in the private rented sector. As such only solid wall insulation and renewables will 
be eligible for EPC Band F and G properties. Social housing – as defined in the 
ECO Order – is excluded from LA-Flex.  

Annual 
reports  

BEIS would expect LAs participating in the scheme to provide BEIS with annual 
reports in April of each year. BEIS will be monitoring published SoIs and LAs may 
also be asked to become part of a LA-Flex User Group to help BEIS to learn 
lessons from the delivery of the scheme, and if needed update this guidance in-
scheme to provide further guidance on policy intent.    

LAs are already required, under the Home Conservation Act 1995 to produce 
biennial report to the Secretary of State demonstrating their energy conservation 
measures. LA’s may include LA Flex reporting5.  

 
  

 
5 Guidance 2019 Home Conservation Act 1995 
 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-to-english-energy-conservation-authorities-the-home-energy-conservation-act-1995


Key roles and responsibilities 

10 

4. Key roles and responsibilities  

15. The roles and responsibilities of different organisations involved in flexible eligibility are 
as follows: 
 

Organisation Summary of roles & responsibilities 

BEIS Production and maintenance of flexible eligibility guidance for LAs and 
associated templates. 

Monitoring of SoIs, specifically checking that SoIs clearly set out these 
requirements: 

• Includes clear criteria for FP and separately the criteria for LIVC.  
• Identify local needs where income threshold is above that indicated in 

this guidance. 

Where issues are identified by BEIS, the LA may be contacted by BEIS for 
further clarity. 

Local Authority Production and publication of Statement of Intent (SoI), including a section on 
the methodology for identifying households meeting the eligibility criteria under 
flexible eligibility.   

SoI must be signed by the CEO or at least Director level. A wet signature on the 
published version is not a legal requirement. However, BEIS would strongly urge 
LAs to provide either a wet or electronic signature or as a minimum a printed 
name and date, along with contact details of the best person to contact 
regarding their SOI.  

Determining that a household meets the eligibility criteria through either being in 
fuel poverty or low income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home, 
or as in-fill.    

Production, authorisation and making the declaration, declaring a household as 
meeting the eligibility criteria under flexible eligibility. 

Declarations can only be signed by an LA official, this does not include 
partnerships working on behalf of LAs or energy suppliers.  

Retaining evidence that a household meets the criteria outlined in the SoI for 
future reporting or evaluation. 

Sending BEIS a link to the website, where the SoI is published, and alerting 
BEIS when the SoI is updated or replaced. Guidance on SoI version control is 
set out in Chapter 5. Guidance on governance and assurance of SoIs and 
declarations are set out in Chapter 5.  

Page 35



Key roles and responsibilities 

11 

Supplier Providing copies of LA declarations to Ofgem on request. 

Checking that the LA has published an SoI, dated on the same day or prior to 
the date of the declaration, including a section on the methodology for identifying 
households meeting the eligibility criteria. Note: the supplier is not responsible 
for assessing the content of the SoI – only that it exists and contains the 
required information.  It is up to the LA to satisfy itself that the SoI is written in 
line with the requirements set out in this guidance. 

Ensuring that measures installed under flexible eligibility meet all the other 
criteria and requirements of the ECO Order. 

Ofgem Request that suppliers provide copies of LA declarations, during audit, to ensure 
that all required information is present and accurate, and that it corresponds with 
the data notified to Ofgem by suppliers. 

Request that suppliers provide evidence, during audit, that a Statement of Intent 
was published before the declaration was made, including a section on the 
methodology for identifying households meeting the eligibility criteria. Note: 
Ofgem is not responsible for assessing the content of the SoI, except for 
checking that it includes the above methodology.   

Reviewing notification data submitted by suppliers relating to measures installed 
under the flexible eligibility provision (i.e. including the eligibility criteria used by 
the LA in the declaration and the URN) and ensuring that the 25% cap on 
qualifying actions using LA Flex is not exceeded by suppliers. 

 
16. The LA is responsible for issuing declarations of eligibility, identifying households as 

meeting the eligibility criteria through either being fuel poor, low income and vulnerable 
to the effects of living in a cold home, or eligible under the in-fill provisions. Suppliers 
are not required to undertake a supplementary assessment to determine whether a 
household is in fuel poverty or on a low income and vulnerable to the effects of living in 
a cold home.   

17. The LA is required to state in its SoI that all the premises on the declaration are located 
in the same building, in immediately adjacent buildings or in the same terrace, and 
under Article 17(4)(d)(iii) in its opinion that 50% are FP or LIVC.   

18. However, it is the responsibility of suppliers to provide evidence supporting the 
notification to Ofgem, on request (i.e. the LA declarations and the Statement of Intent). 
If information is missing or incomplete Ofgem will approach the supplier to obtain this, 
not the LA. It is important that LAs are aware of the requirements on suppliers, which 
are included in Ofgem’s guidance. 
 

 

  

Page 36

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance


Statement of Intent 

12 

5. Statement of Intent  

Purpose  

19. A Statement of Intent (SoI), as set out in the ECO Order, is intended to state publicly 
the criteria that an LA, or a group of LAs, intends to use to identify households that meet 
the eligibility criteria under flexible eligibility.  

20. The SoI is intended to create transparency and public accountability for the eligibility 
criteria and will be a good way of advertising the LAs’ approach to their residents, 
energy suppliers, charities and community groups, who may be able to work with them.  

21. An LA must produce an SoI before it can make declarations that households meet the 
eligibility criteria. 

 

What should it cover?  

22. As set out in the ECO Order (Art 17), an SoI must include a description of how an LA 
intends to identify households in its area that may benefit from the installation of energy 
efficiency measures and that are (a) on low income and are faced with high energy 
costs in keeping warm; or (b) on a low income and are vulnerable to the effects of living 
in a cold home. It can also include any details of how the LA intends to identify “in-fill” 
(see chapter 7 and Annex 8) properties in Solid Wall Insulation (SWI) projects.   

 
Good Practice observed in SoIs 

23. Since April 2017, SoIs have been published covering over 250 LAs across Great Britain 
and BEIS has carried out a light-touch review. Examples of good practice include:  

• SoI is clear, short and concise, ideally no more than 3-4 pages long.  

• Eligibility is illustrated simply and clearly. For example what the LA is looking for to 
demonstrate whether a household meets either LIHC or LIVC.   
 

• Clearly states how the LA will target households. For example, a referral to the LA 
from a healthcare provider; the householder to enquire with the LA directly, targeted 
via a managing agent working with the LA etc.   
 

• Where one SoI is in place for multiple local authorities, the SoI states up front which 
LAs it represents. Each local authority publishes the same SoI on their own 
websites. 
 

• Clear email/ telephone contact details provided. 
 

We have also observed some good ways of working in local authorities which local 
authorities may find helpful. 

Page 37



Statement of Intent 

13 

• Some LAs have joined forces to publish a single SoI covering a wider area, 
reducing the resource requirements.  
 

• Some LAs have a triage service, so if a householder is identified as vulnerable for 
another service through the LA, they are then routed to other services which they 
may benefit from, providing a more holistic support service.  

 

Areas of practice that BEIS would like to highlight to LAs with a view to new SoIs 
under ECO3 

24. LAs have the flexibility to identify households they think are the most in need and in line 
with the published SoI. However, Government stresses it is important that LA-Flex  
should not be used in such a way that it becomes diluted and inhibits support to those 
that really need it. We ask LAs to be mindful of the households that are being targeted, 
so that the most vulnerable households covered by the SoI receive support. In the 
following sections, we highlight areas where SoIs include broad criteria for identifying 
households, and ask that LAs consider the impact of this. 

 

Identifying Vulnerable to Cold households 

25. There are a number of SoIs that state the criteria for identifying LIVC is as follows: 

• A person has a long-term or terminal illness affected by the cold  
• A person with a disability  
• Someone over 60 years of age 
• A household with dependent children under five 
• A person who is pregnant 

26. Whilst these people can be considered as vulnerable, LAs may want to use their 
discretion to identify those at most risk either within or across these groups.  

27. LAs will have a better insight into the local community needs, and therefore Government 
would ask LAs to consider drilling down further to identify those households in most 
need. For instance, some areas may be known for having a higher population of older 
or young people but they may not necessarily be on low income, and there may be 
other households meeting the LIVC category in the area who may be in greater need 
of support.    

Identifying Low Income households: 

28. In some SoIs, the income levels used are considerably higher than the thresholds 
illustrated in the previous guidance. LAs should consider the impact of income 
thresholds they set, and whether this could disadvantage lower income households in 
the area or across the scheme as a whole. The reality is that a household on an income 
of more than £30,000 benefiting from the scheme may mean that another household 
on £15,000 does not benefit.  

Page 38



Statement of Intent 

14 

Identifying eligible households:  

29. In some SoIs, the eligibility is unclear, for example, it sets out how a householder could 
meet the low income category, high cost category and vulnerable to cold category.  
However, it is unclear whether the householder would need to meet one, two or all of 
the categories. The SoI should clearly set out the requirements when identifying 
households meeting the FP criteria and separately the LIVC criteria.  

Governance   

30. The SoI should be signed by the CEO, or another senior officer nominated on their 
behalf who is at least at Director level.  

31. The LA may wish to include details on their referral routes and partners, any additional 
support or service provided, which may be valuable information to their residents. We 
also encourage LAs to outline their governance, monitoring and reporting 
arrangements, as a way of demonstrating that internal assurance processes are in 
place to monitor how flexible eligibility is being used. 

When and where to publish it?  

32. The SoI must be published before an LA can make declarations (declarations may be 
made on the same date as SoI publication). LAs should be aware that suppliers have 
a duty to provide evidence to Ofgem on request that an SoI was published prior to any 
LA declaration being made. 

33. We require that the SoI is published on the LA’s website, and that LAs share a link with 
suppliers, and other intermediaries, for ease of access. The SoI should be easily 
accessible by interested stakeholders (e.g. BEIS, Ofgem, consumers, energy suppliers, 
installers, residents, community groups and charities). For ease of access by BEIS, for 
monitoring purposes, we also require that a copy is sent to: beisecoteam@beis.gov.uk. 
In addition, an SoI should be included in the LA’s Home Energy Conservation Act 
report.  

34. Where an LA has delegated another LA to deliver declarations on their behalf, we 
suggest the delegating LA publishes the relevant SoI on its website as well, so residents 
are aware.  

35. LAs should note that there is no provision for Ofgem to review SoIs prior to being 
published nor do they need to be notified of any publication. However, BEIS would be 
able to check content as described above under roles and responsibilities.  It is up to 
the LA to satisfy itself that the policy intent as described in this guidance is being met.   

Delegation between LAs and joint SoI 
36. An LA can delegate to another LA to provide declarations for households in its 

administrative area. This needs to be stated in the SoI of the LA to which it has been 
delegated.   

37. In cases where a group of LAs wish to work together to publish a joint SoI, each LA 
within the group will need to ensure that the person signing the SoI has the delegated 
responsibility to do so. BEIS recommends that this is either the CEO or an official at 
Director level.  

 

Page 39

mailto:beisecoteam@beis.gov.uk


Statement of Intent 

15 

Version control  
38. An LA can make changes to an SoI at any time. However, LAs that wish to make 

amendments, or withdraw an SoI, should ensure that relevant parties, including 
suppliers or installers the LA is working with, are informed of any changes and when 
they take effect. LAs must include a date of publication and a link to the SoI on each 
declaration, and they should ensure that energy suppliers can access this version of 
the document at future dates for auditing purposes. This includes previous or withdrawn 
versions.   

39. A declaration issued under ECO2t was only valid until 30th September 2018. Under 
ECO3, a declaration issued from 1 October 2018 will be valid for 18 months from the 
date of signature, but only as long as there is an active SoI published at the time of the 
declaration or until 31st March 2022, whichever is the earliest.   

40. To avoid version control issues, any previous or withdrawn SoIs should remain publicly 
available but clearly marked “superseded”/“withdrawn” and include the date in which 
the document was withdrawn. The LA should also advise on their website the date the 
SoI was withdrawn. 

41. LAs are responsible for ensuring the SoI is accurately numbered, dated and publicly 
available at all times. Any subsequent versions of the SoI should be clearly numbered 
and dated to allow for clear distinction from previous versions. The dates between which 
the SoI was active should also be clearly recorded.  

42. An LA may choose to have different SoIs to cover where they are working with different 
suppliers and installers. In such circumstances, LAs are required to pay particularly 
close attention to version control.  

43. With reference to the above, “amending” an SoI means to continue to participate in LA-
Flex but on changed terms (e.g. altered eligibility criteria). To “withdraw” an SoI means 
the LA no longer wishes to participate in LA flex. When withdrawing an SoI the LA 
should endeavour to inform suppliers and installers they have been working with, to 
ensure they understand the LA will no longer be participating. Declarations made by 
that LA dated up to and including the date the SoI is withdrawn will remain valid.  

 
Templates    

44. Templates for the SoI and LA declarations are attached as annexes to this document 
to ensure consistency across LAs. Annex 3 (SoI) may be adapted into another style as 
long as it contains the minimum mandatory information.  

Page 40



LA declaration 

16 

6. LA declaration 

Purpose  

45. A declaration is a statement in writing by an LA which is required to demonstrate that 
the LA has been consulted on the installation of a measure at the domestic premises, 
and it considers the household to meet the eligibility criteria for the measure. In line with 
the ECO Order the consultation with the LA must take place prior to the installation of 
measures.  

46. In the declaration, the LA declares that, in its opinion: 

(i) the premises are occupied by a household living on a low income in a home 
that cannot be kept warm at a reasonable cost; 

(ii) or a property occupied by a household living on a low income and vulnerable to 
the effects of living in a cold home, or  

47.  With respect to solid wall insulation projects, that all the premises are private 
domestic premises located in the same building, in immediately adjacent buildings or 
in the same terrace and at least 50% of those premises include households 
mentioned in (i) or (ii) above.  Where solid wall insulation projects include “in-fill”, the 
LA must declare that to the best of the local authority’s knowledge and belief, all of 
the premises included in the list referred to in Article 17(4)(d) are private domestic 
premises. 

48. Under the ECO3 scheme, declarations will be eligible for 18 months. Declarations made 
from 1 October 2020, will be valid until March 2022. As such LAs will not be required to 
reassess properties if there was a change of tenancy between the date of declaration 
and the commencement of a project.  

49. Energy suppliers are required to maintain records of all the declarations received from 
LAs to demonstrate the eligibility of premises notified to Ofgem under the flexible 
eligibility provision of ECO.  

50. A property will not be considered eligible under the flexible eligibility provision until the 
LA has fully completed and signed a declaration. The declaration must be signed by a 
LA official designated by the CEO, or its equivalent, as indicated in the LA’s SoI. 

 

In-fill in declarations 

51. Ofgem will check a sample of declarations to ensure that the required percentages for 
in-fill are met for any associated in-fill measures to be eligible.  

52. A declaration can specify the name of the installer or supplier, and the duration the 
declaration is valid, if previously agreed with the supplier or its intermediaries.  

 
 

Page 41



LA declaration 

17 

 

When a declaration should be made and how? 

53. An LA can only make a declaration on the same date or after an SoI detailing the 
methodology for targeting households under flexible eligibility is published. An LA 
should not make a declaration until it has made a determination that every property 
included in a declaration is considered to meet the eligibility criteria.  

54. It is up to LAs and suppliers to agree how they wish to interact with one another and 
when declarations will need to be produced. However, as described above, the 
requirement in the ECO Order to consult an LA on the installation of measures must 
take place before measures are installed. More details on this are included in Ofgem’s 
guidance.  

55. We strongly recommend LAs give declarations directly to energy suppliers or their 
intermediaries to minimise the risk of fraud. An LA can also name the supplier or their 
intermediary on the declaration, if previously agreed with these parties, as a way to 
avoid declarations being transferred beyond the LA’s control. LAs can choose to work 
with more than one energy supplier, as different suppliers may be offering different 
measures.   

 
Delegation between local authorities  

56. An LA can provide declarations for households not within its administrative area under 
certain circumstances. For example, this includes where an LA delegates some 
functions to another LA, where the LA providing the service is best placed to make a 
determination on whether a household meets the eligibility criteria. All LAs who are 
either delegating powers, or in receipt of delegated powers, must sign the SoI to confirm 
agreement. In addition, the declaration template requires an LA to record that it is 
making a declaration on behalf of another LA.  In this respect, and the potential sharing 
of personal data, LAs should also have regard to their requirements under the General 
Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).  

 
Template  

57. We have produced template declarations (see Annex 4 and 5 to this document). LAs 
may adapt these templates but are required to include all of the data requirements 
outlined in the template documents. Multiple properties can be included in one 
declaration, providing all addresses are listed. 

58. There are two types of declaration: 
a) a declaration for individual premises occupied by eligible households, and 
b) a declaration for solid wall insulation projects including “in-fill”.  

59. Included in the template are some notes for completion. These include the use of 
standard terminology in declaring the eligibility type and (in the case of “in-fill”) the 
property type. It is important that this terminology is consistently used, as suppliers will 
require this information when notifying measures to Ofgem. 

Page 42

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance


LA declaration 

18 

60. It is important that a unique reference number (URN) is included for each declaration, 
as suppliers will require this information when notifying measures to Ofgem. 

 

Unique Reference Number (URN) 

61. Each declaration must include a unique reference number (URN). This is to allow 
Ofgem to audit and track declarations more effectively.  

62. The URN must follow the format below:  
XXXXXXXXX-YYYYY 

63. The ‘X’ should identify the LA making the declaration. Each LA has a 9 digit ONS code. 
This code should make up the first section of the URN. For example, the ONS code for 
Liverpool is E08000012. These ONS codes are available online and an amalgamated 
list of area codes can be found in BEIS’ Household Energy Efficiency National Statistics 
tables6. If your LA meets the definition of an LA as defined in the Order but does not 
contain an ONS code, you can contact the ECO team in Ofgem directly who will provide 
you with a unique code.  

64. The second section of the URN should represent the number of the declaration in the 
order it has been made. For example, the first declaration can be 00001.  

65. Where an LA has delegated to another LA the ability to issue declarations on their 
behalf in their administrative area, the ONS code should represent the LA making the 
declaration, not the original delegating LA.  
 
 

 
6 See “Headlines Release Tables” https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/household-energy-efficiency-

national-statistics-headline-release-december-2016. Tab 2.2.1. includes area codes (e.g. district and 
county councils) for England, Scotland and Wales.  

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/household-energy-efficiency-national-statistics-headline-release-december-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/household-energy-efficiency-national-statistics-headline-release-december-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/household-energy-efficiency-national-statistics-headline-release-december-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/household-energy-efficiency-national-statistics-headline-release-december-2016


Targeting flexible eligibility 

19 

7. Targeting flexible eligibility  

66. As stated in the Introduction, the purpose of flexible eligibility is to identify private 
households that may benefit from energy saving measures and are: 
i) Fuel poor households, especially those that are not in receipt of eligible 

benefits; and  
ii) Low income households that are vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold 

home (LIVC) 
67. In addition, LAs can declare some non-fuel poor homes as eligible to facilitate solid wall 

insulation projects, as long as a proportion of the households in the project are FP or 
LIVC (see section on in-fill).   

68. It will be the LA’s responsibility to make sure the criteria chosen allow them to identify 
eligible households. The criteria used by an LA will not be audited however Ofgem will 
check whether the SoI includes a section describing the methodology to be used in 
identifying eligible households. BEIS will review SoIs to evaluate the success of the 
scheme in targeting eligible households, and can provide some basic guidance to LAs. 

 
Fuel poverty in GB 

69. Fuel poverty is a devolved matter, with separate indicators, targets and strategies 
adopted by each nation. Although fuel poverty is measured differently in each nation, 
the characteristics of households considered to be in fuel poverty across Great Britain 
are very similar. They all have a focus on low income households with high energy 
costs.  

70. This guidance focuses on fuel poverty as measured under the ‘Low Income High Costs’ 
indicator as used in England, although there is expected to be considerable overlap 
between households identified through these approaches and the Scottish and Welsh 
definitions.  

71. Identifying households on a low income for Government schemes is often undertaken 
by determining whether a household receives a means-tested benefit. Under LA-flex, 
Government allows LAs to identify households on a low income which are not on 
means-tested benefits. This is often as a result of those households not claiming the 
benefits to which they are entitled.  

72. LAs may identify households with high energy costs through the EPC register data 
which is openly available7.  Where an EPC is unavailable, an alternative approach is to 
obtain data on the dwelling characteristics. This can be done either using data held by 
an LA or by approaching households to get information. BEIS has developed a set of 
simple questions that aim to achieve a balance between simplicity and effective 
targeting of high cost homes.  These have been tested in previous BEIS research, 

 
7 EPC database open access: https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/ 

Page 44

https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/


Targeting flexible eligibility 

20 

which found that typically householders are able to understand and answer these 
questions reliably.   

73. Annex 6 provides guidance on low income and high cost example criteria.  
 

Households living on a low income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold 
home  

74. Flexible eligibility is intended to help in tackling one of the root causes of ill-health – 
namely cold, damp housing.  These are homes that do not have adequate insulation or 
heating. Government intends for flexible eligibility to be focussed on those in greatest 
need. Therefore, in targeting vulnerability to cold, LAs should prioritise those 
who live on a lower income. 

75. There are two main criteria that we expect an LA to use when developing its criteria for 
identifying households that are vulnerable to cold and could benefit from an energy 
saving measure under ECO. These are: 

1) Health conditions; and 

2) Household income 

76. Annex 7 provides a list of conditions which increase vulnerability to cold, based on the 
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines.8 This list is 
intended to be a useful reference, though under LA-Flex an LA has the opportunity to 
identify additional health conditions, or provide more detail on what exactly must be met 
with those conditions, based on the needs of its local population and as identified in its 
local Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)9.  

77. LAs may decide to use income thresholds to identify low income. This would be in 
recognition that people with a health condition are more likely to have greater energy 
needs resulting in higher energy costs. Also, given the different needs of households 
that are vulnerable to cold, LAs may decide to allow flexibility around the relevant 
income thresholds that can apply in their area.  

78. In prioritising households to be referred to energy suppliers, LAs may wish to prioritise 
homes with an EPC rating of F or G, which are more likely to be cold, expensive to heat 
and may be a health hazard. Introducing even basic measures to these homes for the 
first time – such as a central heating system – can greatly improve the ability to heat 
the home to a comfortable temperature. To help incentivise delivery in these 
households an enhanced score has been provided for insulation measures that are 
installed. This enhanced score (an additional 25%) is designed to encourage local 
authorities and energy suppliers to install energy efficiency measures into the least 
energy efficient homes.   

 
8 NICE provides guidance, advice, quality standards and information services for health, public health and 
social care. The NICE guidelines are available here: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng6/chapter/1-
Recommendations. Further information on guidelines in relation to Scotland may be found: 
http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/  
9   I https://digital.nhs.uk/ In Wales, there are requirements under the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) 
Act and the Well-Being of Future Generations Act for Population Assessments and Local Well-Being Plans. 

Page 45

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng6/chapter/1-Recommendations
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng6/chapter/1-Recommendations
http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/
https://digital.nhs.uk/


Targeting flexible eligibility 

21 

79. In Annex 6 we provide guidance on identifying “high-cost” homes, which are more likely 
to be LIHC. However, in developing criteria, LAs may decide to use other indicators to 
identify households that are cold, and damp, and may benefit from energy efficiency 
improvements. 
 

Prioritising households on the basis of their health conditions  

80. While there could be many different ways in which LAs and suppliers agree to deal with 
referrals. LAs and energy suppliers may agree on a number of referrals and on the 
installation of certain types or number of measures, customer contribution requirements 
(if any), or a funding limit. This clarity should help LAs to manage the expectations of 
their residents.10 

81. It is important to remember that inclusion in an LA declaration does not guarantee a 
measure will be installed in that property. Therefore LAs should seek, in advance with 
energy suppliers, or their intermediaries, to agree a way of minimising instances in 
which a vulnerable household identified in a declaration does not receive a measure, 
or a service as a result of the referral. Parties may want to agree timeframes for the 
installation of a measure, which take into account that a household may not pursue 
other options to improve their warmth if they think they will be getting an ECO measure.  

82. A weighted scoring approach can be useful to prioritise households for support, 
particularly if there are more residents in need than LAs can make referrals for. For 
example, some LAs participating in the Health Booster Fund11, chose to give different 
weightings to health conditions based on their local priorities, local communities’ needs 
and the demographics of the area.  

83. Scores can be cumulative, so customers with more than one condition or characteristic 
(e.g. age, health conditions, housing characteristics and income level) are then 
prioritised over others. LAs may wish to have thresholds for these scores set according 
to the number of households that an LA intends to include in declarations, and as such 
it can operate as a triage method, rather than a hard threshold.  

 
Identifying “In-fill” properties for solid wall insulation  

84. In order to encourage multi-property solid wall insulation in private tenure, LAs will be 
able to provide declarations for households that are not living in fuel poverty (FP) or 
living on a low income and are vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home (LIVC), 
known as ‘in-fill’ properties.  This mechanism is designed to help the delivery of solid 
wall insulation which particularly benefit from economies of scale. If at least 50% of 
eligible households receive either of these measures, an adjacent property can also 
receive the same measure, as long as the number of these ‘in-fill’ properties does not 
exceed 50%. 

 
10 See also considerations on ‘Working with energy suppliers’ included in the BEIS’ Guidance for Local 
Authorities on Statement of Intent and LA Declaration. 
11 In 2015 Government provided £1m funding to 9 LAs to run innovative projects on health and fuel poverty 
(the Health Booster Fund). A list of the participating LA is available here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-fuel-poverty-and-health-booster-fund.  

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-fuel-poverty-and-health-booster-fund


Targeting flexible eligibility 

22 

85. As with LA-Flex generally, “in-fill” is only available for private domestic premises and as 
such does not include social housing. 

86. Where a household does not meet the criteria for FP or LIVC, an LA can declare a 
household as “in-fill” where they are:  

 
a) in an immediately adjacent building to; or 
b) are in the same building as a household that does meet those criteria; or 
c) in the same terrace as; or 
d) back to back entire terraces, but only if the back of the actual properties are 

touching (not back to back garden/ alleyway separates the terrace).   
 

87. In-fill is only allowed for solid wall insulation (SWI) where a minimum percentage of 
households for which the LA is providing declarations are LIHC or LIVC. These 
requirements are set out in the ECO Order12 and can be summarised as follows: 

 
Table 1 - Summary of the requirements for property types under in-fill 
 

Property Type LA declaration 
requirements 

In-fill available 

Project consisting of a 
pair of semi-detached 
houses or bungalows, 
or a building containing 
no more than two 
domestic premises. 

Project consisting of any 
premises that are 
contained in the same 
building (e.g. flats), 
immediately adjacent 
buildings (eg 
neighbouring properties) 
or in the same terrace. 

At least one of the two-
properties must be 
declared by the LA as FP 
or LIVC (i.e. 50% of the 
properties are FP or 
LIVC). 

All properties that are 
receiving a LA Flex 
measure must be covered 
by a declaration. This 
applies to LIVC, FP and in-
fill properties. Up to 50% of 
total FP or LIVC combined  
properties within the 
project can receive a 
measure. 

The other private property to 
which it is directly adjoined is 
eligible for solid wall 
insulation. This is known as 
the in-fill property. 

 

The in-fill properties in the 
project are eligible for solid 
wall insulation, provided they 
are either in the same 
building, an immediately 
adjacent building or in the 
same terrace as the ones 
identified as FP or LIVC. 

 
88. In-fill households must be listed in an LA declaration for SWI projects, alongside the FP 

or LIVC households in the project that meet the relevant criteria.  
89. The LA must ensure that, for each project on a declaration, the minimum proportions 

are met for the relevant property types. The percentage requirement only relates to the 
 
12 Article 17(3) & 17(4) of the ECO Order 2018 

Page 47



Targeting flexible eligibility 

23 

portion of the properties covered by an LA declaration. So for example, if the LA 
declaration only covers 80% of a block of 10 flats, then only 50% (4) of the 8 properties 
need to meet the requirements.  

90. If an LA declaration is valid and the appropriate percentage of FP or LIVC properties 
are met then: 

(i) Irrespective of whether the FP or LIVC properties receive any measures, the 
private in-fill properties listed on that declaration will be eligible to receive an 
SWI measure. 

(ii)  If any of the FP or LIVC properties named on the declaration are subsequently 
removed from a project for any reason, this will not invalidate the eligibility of 
any of the private properties identified as in-fill on the same declaration. 

91. If a property is included in an LA declaration, but is subsequently notified to Ofgem as 
in receipt of an ECO measure, this will not invalidate the LA declaration made, or require 
a re-calculation of in-fill. It is important to remember that properties in a block that are 
not eligible under flexible eligibility, can be considered for other ECO3 criteria where 
relevant. 

92. If a FP or LIVC property identified in an LA declaration is notified as eligible under 
Affordable Warmth this will not affect the validity of a declaration in relation to in-fill as 
long as the FP & LIVC percentage requirements are met in the initial declaration. 

93. Ofgem guidance provides further detail on the requirements for “in-fill”. 
  

Page 48

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco/contacts-guidance-and-resources/eco-guidance


Annual reports and keeping evidence 

24 

8. Annual reports and keeping evidence 

Annual Reports  
 

94. The first annual reports were due in April 2018.  However, scheme delivery began 
slowly, and BEIS received very few annual reports from LAs.   

95. To support BEIS in determining overall achievements under LA flex and to assist in the 
evaluation of the success of LA flex, we expect that LAs submit information to us in the 
form of an annual report.  

96. LAs are already required, under the Home Conservation Act 1995 to produce biennial 
report to the Secretary of State demonstrating their energy conservation measures. 
LA’s may include LA Flex reporting13. The format of this reporting will be left to LAs to 
decide, though the following information would be most beneficial to enable BEIS to 
review the scheme: 

• Number of households included on declarations (breakdown by FP, LIVC & in-fill) 
• Number of households who received LA flex measures (breakdown by FP, LIVC & 

in-fill), if such information is collected from suppliers  
• Eligibility criteria applied 
• Referral routes utilised 
• Suppliers and installers who the LA worked with  
• Other LAs who the LA worked with 
• Tools, maps or data used to identify eligible households  
• Any evaluation that you have done of the scheme (eg fuel poverty alleviation,  

health impacts, health cost savings) 
• Any additional funding provided, or additional services provided to residents in 

conjunction with flexible eligibility  
• Any particular issues with data sharing  
• Barriers  
• Future plans on flexible eligibility  

 
97. We request that reports are submitted to BEIS on an annual basis. This will help BEIS 

gain a greater understanding of the scheme and help to potentially amend future 
guidance during the ECO3 scheme if relevant. Reports should be submitted to BEIS at 
the following email address: beisecoteam@beis.gov.uk. 

98. We strongly encourage suppliers to keep the relevant LA informed of all measures 
installed on the basis of LA declarations made. This would allow LAs to be aware of 
measures installed in their administrative area and keep records of overall delivery. We 
do not intend to stipulate the format or regularity of this reporting. However, it is 

 
13 Guidance 2019 Home Conservation Act 1995 
 

Page 49

mailto:beisecoteam@beis.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-to-english-energy-conservation-authorities-the-home-energy-conservation-act-1995


Annual reports and keeping evidence 

25 

recommended that parties agree this in advance to ensure it meets respective 
organisational needs. 

 
Evaluation  

99. BEIS is keen to review how well LA-Flex is working and whether it is achieving its 
objectives of targeting households living in fuel poverty, or who are living on a low 
income and are vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home.  

100. To monitor the effectiveness of the scheme, participating LAs may be asked to be 
part of an LA-Flex “user group”. This group may be asked to participate in one or more 
workshops organised by BEIS to share lessons learned on the scheme and collect any 
early evidence of its working. These workshops may focus in particular on lessons 
learned on targeting low income high cost households and vulnerability and on the 
processes involved in flexible eligibility.  

101. In addition, participating LAs may be asked to participate in a more formal evaluation 
of the scheme by BEIS. As part of this, we may ask to access evidence of your targeting 
approaches.  

 
Evidence Retention by LAs 

102. BEIS will not prescribe what evidence must be kept by LAs. However, to facilitate 
internal monitoring of the scheme by LAs, and in order to inform annual reports that 
should be submitted to BEIS, we recommend that the following evidence should be 
retained by LAs:  

• Statement of Intent 
• Copies of declarations 
• Underlying records used to support household eligibility assessment and evidence 

of adhering to targeting criteria outlined in a SoI 
• Reporting received from suppliers or installers on measures installed  
• Any internal assurance reporting, if undertaken (e.g. Internal Audit report) 
• Any additional information that may support annual reports 

 
103. We recommend this evidence is retained for 3 years from the date of declaration.  

Suppliers should be aware that they are required to provide evidence of measures until 
at least Ofgem’s ECO3 final determination date on 30th September 2022.  

 

  

Page 50



Working with energy suppliers and intermediaries 

26 

9. Working with energy suppliers and 
intermediaries  

Working with energy suppliers  
 

104. There are a number of potential delivery models that could be followed under flexible 
eligibility, and it will be up to suppliers, or their intermediaries, and LAs to agree them 
for each area.  

105. LAs should be aware that suppliers must provide information to Ofgem on request 
and as such will require information from the LA to support this (i.e. the LA declaration 
and the SoI). 

106. Suppliers, installers and LAs are free to and encouraged to establish their own 
working relationships. There are no formal processes implemented by BEIS or Ofgem 
therefore all relevant parties are free to begin processes with each other, as long as in 
doing so, no regulatory breach occurs.  

107. LAs should make clear to their residents that the inclusion of a household in an LA 
declaration does not guarantee a measure will be installed by an energy supplier. 
Decisions by energy suppliers on whether to install a measure may depend on: i) survey 
carried out by suppliers or their agents/contractors and installation costs calculated, ii) 
the energy savings that can be achieved for a property14, and iii) whether suppliers 
have achieved, or are close to achieving, their targets.  

108. The Government encourages LAs and suppliers to establish robust partnerships with 
a strong understanding of mutual roles and responsibilities that provide a positive 
customer journey for fuel poor and vulnerable households. As a result of this, situations 
where customers expect a measure that is then not delivered should be avoided. 

109. BEIS approached suppliers and asked what they would like to see on LA’s SoIs. 
Some of the responses included:  
a. LA’s that have multiple SoI’s can cause confusion. There are cases when 

consortium versions differ from a version the LA uses independently of the consortium, 
therefore SoIs need to be clearly labelled and defined.  

b. Where LA’s have set up a partnership they publish details of their partners on their 
website and on any marketing material used to support the project; 

c. Ensuring the SoI has key personnel contact details (this is useful for contacting the 
local authority to discuss potential funding); 

 
14 Guidance on “deemed scores” which determine the savings of measures under the ECO 3 scheme is 

available here: www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/eco3-deemed-scores 
 

Page 51

http://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/eco3-deemed-scores


Working with energy suppliers and intermediaries 

27 

d. Does the LA have a clear strategy on identifying households who qualify for LA 
Flex?; 

e. with regards to the qualifying criteria, is this reasonable and in line with LA Flex 
guidelines? 

 
Working with intermediaries  

110. LAs have a key role to play in bringing together parties and coordinating activities of 
health and social care services. They can promote and encourage partnerships and 
referrals between parties working with fuel poverty and vulnerability, including those 
working in housing, energy efficiency, environmental health, the NHS, social care, 
public health, community groups and others engaged in home visits, including those 
outside the health sphere such as the fire service, or advice agencies. Citizens Advice 
Bureau agencies, for example, given their established referral systems for low income 
consumers and outreach activities, can play a key role in referring households to LAs. 
LAs may also work with managing agents, who operate on behalf of energy suppliers. 

111. LAs can also coordinate funding, or other services, from different sources to provide 
maximum benefits to their residents. For example, LAs should seek to work with Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), as they have an important role to play to support the 
work of local health services and raising awareness of the impact of cold homes on 
health. Several CCGs have recognised that there are significant health benefits to be 
had from tackling fuel poverty, not only in terms of health outcomes for individuals, but 
also of health and social care cost savings and wider public benefits. There are several 
examples of funding being made available by CCGs to help address the issue of 
vulnerability to cold. 

112. Whilst intermediary organisations may assist LAs in identifying eligible households, 
the LA declaration must be signed by an LA officer who has the appropriate 
responsibility for signing, and LAs will be expected to have oversight and responsibility 
for how flexible eligibility is utilised in their areas.  

113. In developing their targeting approaches to flexible eligibility, LAs should set out in 
the SoI how they intend to make the most of referrals from trusted third parties in the 
health and social care service. They should also consider how they can refer people on 
to other services, for example benefit entitlement checks, care and repair services, or 
wider social support services. 
 

Working with private rented sector landlords 

114. Under the Private Rented Sector (PRS) Regulations15, LAs in England and Wales 
have enforcement duties and powers in relation to the domestic minimum standard. As 

 
15 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property)(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 set a minimum 
energy efficiency standard for the private rented sector (PRS) in England and Wales from April 2018 for both 
domestic and non-domestic property. The minimum standard is set at EPC energy efficiency band E, and 
domestic properties whose EPC rating is below E are defined as ‘sub-standard’. 

Page 52



Working with energy suppliers and intermediaries 

28 

part of their minimum standard enforcement work, therefore, LAs have an opportunity 
to identify PRS properties.   

115.  Under ECO3, restrictions have been introduced for PRS eligibility. For properties 
with an EPC Band F or G (or unrated), only solid wall insulation or renewable heating 
measures will be eligible. There are no such restriction for properties with EPC Band E 
or above.  However, a replacement or repair of a broken heating system will not be 
allowed.  

Page 53



The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

29 

10. The General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR)  

116. LAs will need to comply with The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (EU) 
2016/67916 for any personal information they pass on to suppliers, for example, by 
obtaining the consent of the householder before matching them with a supplier and 
sharing relevant information such as an address and the reason for the eligibility. 

117. It is the responsibility of the LA to determine how best to record and retain records of 
consent. To assist LAs they should consider guidance given by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office17 and Ofgem18 for ECO3 with regards to privacy notices.  

118. In all cases we encourage LAs to establish clear lines of communication and accurate 
data flows with suppliers and installers in order that decisions, and evidence, is clearly 
recorded and maintained. Further guidance on GDPR can be found on the ICO’s 
website. Separate guidance on data sharing for the purposes of LA Flex will be 
published on GOV.UK [in February 2019]. 

 

 

  

 

 
16 The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) statutory code of practice on data sharing  (‘the ICO Code’) 
provides guidance on how to ensure personal data is shared in a way that is lawful, proportionate and 
compatible with the DPA and other relevant legislation such as the Human Rights Act 1998: 
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1068/data_sharing_code_of_practice.pdf  
Another key source of information and advice on data sharing and usage is the Centre of Excellence for 
Information Sharing. There are a number of useful resources on their website which can help when planning 
processes or projects that involve sharing data and information. They can also be contacted for specific 
advice.  
17 Further information can be found at the Information Commissioner’s Office website at ICO privacy-notices-
transparency and control. 
18 See paragraphs 7.54-59 https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/energy-company-obligation-
2018-22-eco3-guidance-supplier-administration 
 
  

Page 54

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1068/data_sharing_code_of_practice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1068/data_sharing_code_of_practice.pdf
http://informationsharing.org.uk/
http://informationsharing.org.uk/
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/privacy-notices-transparency-and-control-1-0.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/privacy-notices-transparency-and-control-1-0.pdf
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/energy-company-obligation-2018-22-eco3-guidance-supplier-administration
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/energy-company-obligation-2018-22-eco3-guidance-supplier-administration


 

 

Annex 1: Affordable Warmth household eligibility  

Private Tenure  
 

Flexible Eligibility 
(up to 25% of ECO) 

Private Tenure  
 
Affordable Warmth eligibility 

The following means-tested benefit recipients are eligible  
 
Eligibility criteria: Determined by LA Eligibility criteria:  In accordance with Article. 
17 parameters and set out in published Statement of Intent 
 
Relevant categories: 
i. Owner Occupied premises where household is FP or LIVC; 
ii.  A to E Private rented premises, where household is FP or LIVC, but installation 
measures is not the replacement or repair of a boiler, electric storage heater or 
central heating system that has broken down; 
iii. F, G or unrated private rented premises, where household is FP or LIVC and 
installation measure is only solid wall insulation or a renewable heating measure; 
iv. In-fill 
 
 
Specific targeting for F and G Properties under LA Flex 
 
EPC Band F and G Private Rented Properties are not eligible under LA Flex, except 
for solid wall insulation or renewable heating measures as landlords are 
responsible for meeting these standards under the Domestic Minimum Standards. 

 
Income based Jobseekers allowance (JSA) 
Income based Employment & Support Allowance (ESA) 
Income based Income Support (IS) 
Pension Guarantee Credit 
Working Tax Credit (WTC)  
Child Tax Credits (CTC) 
Universal Credit (UC)  
Disability Living Allowance (DLA) 
Personal Independence Payment (PIP) 
Attendance Allowance  
Carer’s Allowance  
Severe Disablement Allowance 
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit 
Child Benefit below certain income thresholds 
War Pensions Mobility Supplement 
Constant Attendance Allowance 
Armed Forces Independence Payment  

 

P
age 55



Annex 2: Flexible eligibility process map 

2 

Annex 2: Flexible eligibility process map  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description: Under Flexible Eligibility, local authorities (LAs) provide a ‘declaration’ to suppliers which can be used to demonstrate that a household (or a number of households) is eligible under ECO3. 
Energy suppliers can count measures installed in those households towards their ECO3 obligation, subject to the limits imposed by the scheme. LAs will have to ensure that they target households in 
private domestic premises living 1) in a household with low income and high energy cost, or 2) in a household with a low income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home (LIVC).  In addition 
some non FP or LIVC homes will be allowed solid wall insulation (SWI) projects, as long as 50% proportion of the households in the project are FP or LIVC.  This ‘flexibility’ only covers eligibility – all other 
rules of the scheme will apply normally to ECO3 measures.  The key steps in the process are illustrated below.   

1. BEIS guidance 
including:  

Guidance on 
targeting FP, LIVC 
and in-fill 

Guidance on local 
authority 
declaration and 
statement of intent 

Guidance on 
evidence keeping 
and annual 
reporting 

Templates 
(declaration; 
statement of intent) 

2.LA publishes on 
LA website a 
‘statement of 
intent’ signed by 
CEO (or nominated 
Director), including: 

1) Targeting 
(mandatory) 
2) if acting on 
behalf of another 
LA 
3) Governance 
including 
nomination of 
officer role 
4) Referral routes 
Evidence, 
monitoring and 
reporting.  

3. Households are 
identified – for 
example: 

1) LAs work with 
partners (e.g. 
health, charities) to 
identify FP/LIVC 
households 
2) LAs identify 
people themselves 
(e.g. through own 
data)  
3) Supplier/ 
installers provide a 
‘list’ of potentially 
eligible households 
*it is up to LAs and 
suppliers to agree 
identification routes.  

4. LA provides a 
‘declaration’ to the 
supplier, including: 
 
1) Reference 
number (URN) 
2) Address(es) 
3) ‘Reason’ for 
choosing as eligible 
4) Signature of 
nominated officer  
5) The letter can be 
provided to the 
supplier directly, to 
minimise fraud. 
6) The declaration 
is provided after the 
statement of intent 
is issued. 

5. Suppliers include 
information in 
notification to 
Ofgem (wherever 
an LA declaration 
was provided*) 
 
1) URN 
2) Eligibility reason 
provided by LA (FP, 
LIVC, in-fill) 
 
*i.e. also if the 
measure is 
ultimately notified 
as Affordable 
Warmth 

6. Monitoring/ 
auditing 
 
1) BEIS will review 
Flexible Eligibility 
during ECO3 and 
may ask LAs to 
participate in a User 
Group to review 
lessons learned and 
evidence  
 
2) LAs keep copies 
of declarations and 
evidence on their 
targeting processes 

7. LA reports 
 
1 LA provides an 
annual report to 
BEIS in April each 
year   

Statement of Intent 
 

a) Ofgem may audit suppliers to check that a statement of intent was published by a 
LA on or before it issued any declarations.  
b) Ofgem may audit a statement of intent to ensure that it includes a section relation to 
how a LA intends to identify relevant households 
c) Should Ofgem receive/find evidence that a statement of intent does not meet either 
of the two criteria above, it may reject measures identified as eligible by that LA in its 
declarations.   

Declarations 
 
a) Ofgem may audit suppliers to check that a declaration exists and contains the relevant 
addresses of the measures notified 
b) Ofgem may also check that the declaration is dated on or after the SoI was published 
c) Ofgem may also audit declarations to ensure that the percentage requirements for 
SWI infill are met on the declaration 
d) Should Ofgem find or receive any evidence that a LA is targeting households that do 
not meet the policy intent they will pass this information to BEIS for action as appropriate 

Requirements on energy suppliers for flexible eligibility (see Ofgem’s guidance) 

P
age 56



 

 

Annex 3: Statement of Intent template  

1) Name of the local authority (or local authorities if this is a joint SoI) 
2) Local authority you are acting on behalf of (if relevant) 
3) Date of publication [DD/MM/YY]  
4) Version number  
5) Publication on website [provide specific URL to the website where it is published]  
6) Contact details of person or team to discuss LA Flexible Eligibility  

 
1) Intro [this section is optional] 

Outline the LAs ambitions for Flexible Eligibility, how this fits with local policies and 
priorities and any additional services or support that are available. 

You can also include a statement to make clear to members of the public that the final 
decision on whether a household receives an ECO measures is made by the energy 
suppliers or their agents/contractors. For example you may note that inclusion in a 
Declaration made by the LA to a supplier will not guarantee installation of measures, as 
the final decision will depend on i) survey carried out by suppliers agents/contractors and 
installation costs calculated, ii) the energy savings that can be achieved for a property, and 
iii) whether suppliers have achieved their targets or require further measures to meet their 
ECO targets. 

2) How the LA intends to identify eligible households [this section is mandatory]  

Outline how the LA intends to identify households that may benefit from the installation of 
measures under “flexible eligibility”, ie households living in fuel poverty (FP) or living on a 
low income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home (LIVC) (“relevant 
households”). In doing this, you should have regard to BEIS guidance on targeting.  

In the SoI, you should include:  

(a) Criteria for identifying households in fuel poverty  

Please specify your targeting criteria, including as minimum information on the 
following: 

• Households not in receipt of benefits  
• Households in receipt of benefits, if so which benefits?  
• Low income threshold/s, or other indicators 
• Indicators of high energy cost  

(b) Criteria for identifying low income and vulnerability to cold  

Please specify your targeting criteria, including as a minimum information on the 
following: 

Page 57



Annex 3: Statement of Intent template 

2 

• Low income threshold/s, and 
• Health and vulnerability conditions 

(c) Any details of scheme requirements for SWI “in-fill” projects 

• Including whether the LA intends to facilitate solid wall insulation schemes 
under flexible eligibility including households that are not in fuel poverty or 
vulnerable (‘in-fill’) and any details of scheme requirements and eligibility 
criteria 

 
3) Acting on behalf of another local authority [this section is mandatory] 

In some cases, an LA might make declarations on behalf of another LA. In this case you 
must include the name(s) of the LA on behalf of which you are making declarations. All 
participating LAs must sign the SoI.  

4) Joint statement of intent [this section is mandatory] 

In some cases, LAs may wish to issue a joint SoI, if they intend to use common criteria 
across their areas. In this case you must list the names of the LAs who are signatories to 
the SoI.  

5) Governance [this section is optional] 

While this is optional, we strongly encourage LAs to include details of the person 
responsible for signing “local authority declarations” on behalf of the LA, including role and 
address. If this is a joint SoI, this should be done for all the LAs issuing declarations under 
the joint SoI.  

In addition, an LA should provide any details of governance structures in place to oversee 
the process of identifying eligible households under “flexible eligibility”. This section should 
include details of the decision making organogram.  

6) Referrals [this section is optional] 

While some LAs may not know the following information at the stage of developing an SoI, 
this is information that is valuable for residents to know if available. Alternatively, it could 
be included in (annual) reports. 

a) Details of any referral route(s) from fuel poverty/vulnerability/social care or health 
organisations, or any partnership with a selected obligated supplier and/or 
agents/contractors  

b) Expected information flows with obligated suppliers and their agents/contractors 
 

7) Evidence, monitoring and reporting [this section is optional] 

This section should cover, if available at the stage of developing the SoI: 

a) What data will be collected and the mechanisms in place for monitoring the effective 
targeting of relevant households;  

Page 58



Annex 3: Statement of Intent template 

3 

b) What reporting mechanism will be in place to monitor which households of those 
targeted have subsequently received a measure; 

c) The method and frequency with which information is reported to those with 
governance and decision-making responsibilities; 

d) What internal auditing will be carried out on the above data collection and 
monitoring mechanism; and 

e) What controls are place to deter, prevent and detect fraud. 
 

8) Signature [this section is mandatory]  

The SoI should be signed (by hand, electronically or name printed)  and dated by the Chief 
Executive Officer for the LA or other senior officer nominated on their behalf who is at least 
at Director level.  

In case of a joint SoI, signatures by all the LAs involved should be included.  

 

9) Contact details [This section is strongly recommended] 

Please provide contact details of the nominated person/team that should be contacted for 
residents that wish to apply or for general queries.  

  

Page 59



Annex 4: ECO 3 LA Declaration template 

4 

Annex 4: ECO 3 LA Declaration template  

This declaration must be used to demonstrate eligibility of premises under ECO3 flexible 
eligibility. Only LAs officials can sign a declaration. This declaration can be used for all 
Affordable Warmth measure types except for projects including solid wall insulation (SWI) 
“in-fill”.19 More than one premise can be listed on this form, however all property 
addresses must be included. 

We recommend that each page includes a date, signature and page number: 

Page number:.…../…… Signature: ……………………………….Date: ………..... 

Name of local authority 
making the declaration 

 

Name of local authority you 
are acting on behalf of 
(where applicable) 

 

Declaration URN20  
Statement of Intent 
publication date and version 
number  

 

Statement of Intent internet 
link 

 

Optional: Name of the 
installer or supplier to which 
you have provided the 
declaration 

 

Optional: time validity of your 
declaration  

 

Address of premises  
(Add rows where necessary) 
Please insert: Building number/name, 
Street name, Town, City, County, 
Postcode  

 

The premises are occupied by  (one of the following): 

1. A household living in fuel poverty (FP)  
2. A household living on a Low income and vulnerable to the effects of 

living in a  cold home (LIVC) 

(Please insert “Fuel Poor” or “low income and vulnerable” into the box below) 

  

  
  
  
  

 
19 A separate declaration is available for SWI projects that include “in-fill” properties in Annex 5.20 URNs will 

be based on a local authority’s ONS code – guidance is provided in Chapter 5.   
20 URNs will be based on a local authority’s ONS code – guidance is provided in Chapter 5.   

Page 60



Annex 4: ECO 3 LA Declaration template 

5 

  
 

Local authority declaration 
 
I declare that: 

 the Statement of Intent (SoI) for this local authority was published on or before the 
date this declaration was made and is currently available to view at the above 
location. 

 

 
 

the local authority has been consulted on the installation of a measure (“heating 
qualifying action”) at the premises listed above. We confirm this consultation took 
place prior to the installation of measures. 
 

 
 

The local authority is satisfied that the premises listed above are occupied by a 
household(s) either: 

a) made a statement in writing that, in the opinion of the local authority, the 
premises are occupied by a household living on a low income in a home which 
cannot be kept warm at a reasonable cost; or 

b) made a statement in writing that, in the opinion of the local authority, the 
premises are occupied by a household living on a low income and vulnerable 
to the effects of living in a cold home. 

 
Local authority 
officer name 

 

 
Local authority 
officer 
signature 

 
 

Date:   _ _ / _ _ / _ _ _ _ 

 
Job title 

 

 
Local authority 
address 

 

 
Local authority 
telephone 
number 

 

 

Page number:.…../…… Signature: ……………………………….Date: ………..... 

  

Page 61



Annex 5: ECO 3 LA Declaration template for “in-fill” 

6 

Annex 5: ECO 3 LA Declaration template 
for “in-fill”  

This declaration must be used to demonstrate eligibility of premises under the flexible 
eligibility provision of Affordable Warmth. Only LAs can make a declaration. This 
declaration can only be used for solid wall insulation (SWI) projects including “in-
fill”. 

We recommend that each page includes a date, signature and page number.  

Page number:..…../……Signature: ………………………………….Date: ………………. 

 Name of local authority making 
the declaration 

 

Name of local authority you are 
acting on behalf of (where 
applicable) 

 

Declaration URN21  
Statement of Intent publication 
date 

 

Statement of Intent internet link  
Optional: Name of the installer or 
supplier to which you have 
provided the declaration 

 

Optional: time validity of your 
declaration  

 

Address of premises 
(Add rows where necessary) 
Please insert: Building number/name, Street 
name, Town, City, County, Postcode  

Relevant eligibility criteria  

(please see the Notes section on 
how to fill this section) 

Premises type 

(please see the Notes section 
on how to fill this section) 

Project 1 
   
   
Percentage of households listed in project that are either living in fuel poverty, or are low 
income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home    _____%22 

Project 2 
   

 
21 Guidance for LAs on how to produce a URN is set out in chapter 5. 
22 Ofgem will check the percentages in the declaration are correct – if not, the declaration will be invalid.     

Ofgem will not check that the percentages are correct based on measures installed and notified to them.  
 

Page 62



Annex 5: ECO 3 LA Declaration template for “in-fill” 

7 

   
Percentage of households listed above that are either living in fuel poverty or low income 
and vulnerable to the effect of living in a cold home       _% 
 
 
 

(You can include more projects if needed) 
Local authority declaration 

 
I declare that:  

 the Statement of Intent (SoI) for this local authority was published on or before the 
date this declaration was made and is currently available to view at the above 
location. 

 

 
 

the local authority has been consulted on the installation of the solid wall insulation at 
the premises listed above prior to the installation of a measure. We confirm this 
consultation took place prior to the installation of measures. 

 
all of the premises included in the project list(s) [insert project number(s)] above are situated in 

the same building, in immediately adjacent buildings or in the same terrace; 
and 

(i) a written statement that, in the opinion of the local authority, the premises are occupied by a 

household living on a low income in a home which cannot be kept warm at a reasonable cost; or 

(ii) a written statement that, in the opinion of the local authority, the premises are occupied by a 

household living on a low income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home.  

Local authority 
officer name 

 

Local authority 
officer signature 

 
 

Date:   _ _ / _ _ / _ _ _ _ 

Job title  

Local authority 
address 

 

Local authority 
telephone number 

 

Notes 
For each premise, one of the following must be selected for relevant eligibility criteria: 

1. “Fuel poor” (if the premise is occupied by a household living in fuel poverty)  
2. “Low income and vulnerable” (if the premise is occupied by a household living on a low income and are vulnerable 

to the effects of living in a cold home  
3. “SWI In-fill 50%” (if the premise is not occupied by a household in fuel poverty or low income and vulnerable.  

 

Page number:..…../……Signature: ………………………………….Date: ………………. 

Page 63



Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households 

8 

Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households  

1. In this section we set out how to identify households that live in fuel poverty.  
 

2. We recommend that you take a two-step approach: 
a. Identify whether a household is on a low income; and 
b. Determine whether they face high energy costs 

 
Identifying low income households 

3. Identifying households on low incomes for Government schemes is often 
undertaken by determining whether a household receives a means-tested benefit. 
However, not all fuel poor households are recipients of benefits, and not all 
households are willing to share information about their benefit status.  

4. Through flexible eligibility, Government is keen that LAs may be able to identify 
those people living in fuel poverty, who are harder to reach, for example those who 
are not on the benefits system, and hence would not be captured under the main 
eligibility criteria under Affordable Warmth.  

5. An alternative approach to means-tested benefits is to use an income threshold to 
determine whether a household has a low income – where households would be 
eligible if their income was equal to or below the relevant income threshold.  

6. In general, the lower an income threshold the greater the likelihood of households 
below that threshold being in fuel poverty. 

7. Income here is defined as a household’s disposable income after they have paid 
for their rent or mortgage. This comprises income from all sources, such as net 
earnings (after tax), income from savings and investments, pensions, all benefits 
(including housing benefit), and net council tax payments. The recommended 
income thresholds are presented in Table 1.  

8. In practice participating LAs will be able to exercise their discretion on where to 
set thresholds they consider appropriate, and how to define income. This must be 
set out in the SoI. 

9. In the previous version of this guidance, income thresholds were included. Some 
LAs used these, but many SoIs contained variations.  In order to simplify guidance 
on income thresholds, government has set out simplified income thresholds in the 
ECO Order.  

 
 
 

Page 64



Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households 

9 

Table 1: Recommended after housing costs equivalised income thresholds, by 
household composition 

Household composition 2019 

1 Adult  £        9,300  

and 1 child  £      12,200  

and 2 child  £      15,000  

and 3 child  £      18,000  

and 4+ child  £      21,000  

2 Adults  £      15,200  

and 1 child  £      18,200  

and 2 child  £      21,100  

and 3 child  £      24,100  

and 4+ child  £      26,800  

 
Identifying high cost households 

10. Due to the nature of the fuel poverty definition used for England, gathering 
information that relates to the energy costs in a given property and combining it 
with information on that household’s income is more effective in targeting the fuel 
poor than using income information alone.  

11. We have considered different approaches that reflect potential access to data by 
LAs on how costly a home is to heat. We have shortlisted two approaches in this 
guidance, which try to strike a balance between simplicity and targeting accuracy. 
As discussed above, LAs have discretion over how to target fuel poor households. 
As such they may wish to develop different approaches or use different data or 
tools to identify fuel poverty in their area. The approach followed must be set out 
in the SoI. 

a) Approach 1:  Use Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) bands E, F or G in 
order to determine a household as very likely to have high energy costs  

b) Approach 2: Use the responses to a set of questions which describe the 
characteristics of a given household to determine the likelihood of having high 
energy costs 

12. Internal BEIS analysis shows that there is a correlation between properties with 
high energy costs and households which have potential for a cost-effective ECO 

Page 65



Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households 

10 

measure. This is an important factor for energy suppliers in deciding whether to 
install a measure. 

 

1) Approach 1: EPC bands E, F or G  

13. Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) bands can be used to identify how costly a 
household is to heat.  

14. In March 2017 DCLG made a significant proportion of the EPC register data openly 
accessible23, which should allow for bulk access to this data free of charge. 

15. This simple approach would involve obtaining EPC bands for properties and 
defining as eligible only those properties which have an EPC band of D, E, F, or 
G. BEIS analysis shows that E, F, and G rated homes have a high probability of 
being defined as ‘High Cost’ under the Fuel Poverty definition. 

 
2) Approach 2: High Cost questions 

16. Whilst Approach 1 is the simplest route to take, we present another option for 
finding high cost homes where an EPC is not available. 

17. This option would involve obtaining data on dwelling characteristics, either done 
using data held by an LA, visiting the property, or approaching households to get 
the relevant information. 

18. BEIS has developed a set of simple questions that aim to achieve a balance 
between simplicity and effective identification of high cost homes. These have 
been tested in previous BEIS research, which found that typically householders 
are able to understand and answer these questions reliably.   

19. Using English Housing Survey data BEIS has analysed how responses to these 
questions tend to affect the probability of a given home having high heating costs. 
Based on this analysis, we developed scores which reflect the likelihood that a 
dwelling characteristic (e.g. number of bedrooms = 4) results in the given 
household having high energy costs. A higher score indicates a greater likelihood 
that a household has high energy costs. 

20. Participating LAs may decide to set a score threshold, whereby properties that 
generate a score above a certain level are deemed to be sufficiently likely to be 
High Cost. An alternative method would be to simply score all the properties in the 
area and prioritise those properties with the highest scores.  

21. As a reminder, LAs that follow this approach have discretion over the score 
thresholds.  

 
22. Table 1 below provides a list of recommended questions and corresponding 

scores based on our statistical analysis. If no response is available for a 
question, there is a “No response” option. This uses the most common response 
as a default response – for example, if it is unknown how the energy payments 

 
23 Available at https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/  

Page 66

https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/


Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households 

11 

are made then given payment by Direct Debit is the most common option, the 
score for Direct Debit is used. We do recommend answering all questions where 
possible, as some default scores – for example when the home was built, and 
the main fuel type – will have a large impact on the overall score. The more “No 
response” answers used, the less accurate the score will be. 

 

Table 2 – BEIS preferred High Cost Questionnaire 

At least one household member at home for 
most of the day 

score 

Yes 1 
No 0   

Number of bedrooms 
 

1 0 
2 6 
3 12 
4 21 
5 or more 27   

Property type 
 

Purpose-built flat 0 
Converted flat 4 
Non-residential building 4 
Mid-terrace house 4 
End-terrace house 10 
Semi-detached house 10 
Detached house 20   

Year of construction 
 

Post 2002 0 
1991-2002 3 
1981-1990 4 
1975-1980 7 
1965-1974 12 
1945-1964 13 
1919-1944 18 
1850-1918 24 
pre1850 27   

Main heating fuel type 
 

Gas 0 
Electricity 20 
Other 5   

Page 67



Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households 

12 

Central heating 
 

Yes - central heating working 0 
other 11   

Electricity bill - method of payment 
 

Direct debit 0 
Pre payment 6 
Standard credit 7 

 

Table 3 Incremental adjustments to Annual income thresholds (after housing costs 
of mortgage/rent & council tax): 

 £14,600 
(previous 
guidance) 

£15,230 
(updated in 
line with 
inflation) 

£17,500 £20,000 £25,000 £30,000 

Number of 
eligible 
households 

1,062,192 1,130,786 1,622,140 2,340,396 3,862,546 5,670,329  

Fuel 
poverty 
rate 

51% 51% 36% 25% 15% 10% 

Number of 
eligible 
fuel poor  
households 

546,239 571,158 576,464 576,464 576,464 576,464 

 
23. The table above looks at the impacts on the fuel poverty rates as you increase 

the annual income thresholds. Adjusting the income threshold in line with 
inflation is shown to raise the number of eligible households with no significant 
effect on the fuel poverty targeting, as more than 1 in 3 newly eligible households 
are fuel poor. However, raising the low income threshold above this point 
negatively impacts the fuel poverty targeting of the scheme as almost all those 
who become eligible are not fuel poor. For example:  

 
24. Moving from £15,230 to £17,500 shows there is a modest increase of around 5k 

fuel poor households, however the total number of eligible households increases 
by around 500,000, meaning that roughly 1% of newly eligible households are 
expected to be fuel poor. Therefore, any income above £15,230 benefits few 
additional FP households whilst allowing many non-FP households to benefit.  

 

  

Page 68



Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households 

13 

Table 4 IMD as the sole proxy for low income: 

 IMD bottom 
10% + high 
cost/vulnerable 
to cold 

IMD bottom 20% + 
high 
cost/vulnerable to 
cold 

Number of 
eligible 
households 

               
409,671             1,070,479  

Fuel poverty 
rate 11% 7% 
Number of 
eligible fuel 
poor 
households 

                 
43,594                   72,113  

25. BEIS has investigated the fuel poverty hit rates when using IMD areas as a sole 
proxy to define the low-income indicator. For the purposes of modelling our 
analysts removed households that would have been eligible for ECO AW due to 
being on means tested benefits. The figures show that the number of FP eligible 
households represents only a small overall percentage of those households that 
we are trying to target. Therefore, BEIS does not recommended IMD as an 
effective method or defining low income.  

 

Table 5 IMD as a supplementary proxy for low income: 

 Recommended 
criteria (no IMD) 

Recommended + 
IMD bottom 10% 

Previous 
recommended + 
IMD bottom 20% 

Number of 
eligible 
households            1,130,786             1,451,997             2,030,289  
Fuel poverty 
rate 51% 40% 28% 
Number of 
eligible fuel 
poor 
households                571,158                 575,288                 575,288  

26. BEIS modelled using IMD areas set at both the bottom 10 and 20% along with a 
household income of £15,230k.  Comparing no IMD used, versus IMD set at 
10% only increases the number of fuel poor households by an additional 4,000 
households. Meanwhile, more than 300,000 non-fuel poor households become 
eligible. This implies that roughly 1% of newly eligible households are expected 
to be fuel poor. Similarly, if we set IMD at 20% no additional fuel poor homes 
become eligible despite an additional 600k households becoming eligible 
(compared to including only IMD 10%). This implies that less than 0.5% of 
households that would become eligible through the introduction of IMD 10/20% 

Page 69



Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households 

14 

as a low income proxy are fuel poor. The reason for this is most likely due to the 
large majority of fuel poor households that live in IMD 10% and 20% areas are 
already eligible through other eligibility criteria. 

 
 
 
High cost criteria: 

27. It is recommended that the high cost criteria is extended to include EPC D and 
below rated homes. The table below (table 5) shows the figures relating to 
different High Cost criteria scenarios. It compares BEIS’s recommended £15,230 
low income, high cost. The table shows by extending to EPC band D and below 
raises the number of eligible households with no negative impact on the fuel 
poverty hit-rate. Although limiting the high cost criteria to EPC F or G rated 
properties would raise the fuel poverty hit-rate, it would significantly restrict the 
size of the eligible pool, leading to lower delivery. Furthermore, roughly half of 
those would become ineligible (compared to EPC D and below) are fuel poor. 
Therefore, this restriction would likely negatively impact the policy’s fuel poverty 
impact.  

 

Table 6 EPC ratings 

 Previous recommended High cost limited to 
EPC F and G 

High cost extended to EPC 
D or worse 

Number of eligible 
households 1,062,192 539,299 1,130,786  

Fuel poverty rate 51% 57% 51% 

Number of eligible fuel 
poor households 546,239 306,245 571,158 

Page 70



Annex 7: Identifying vulnerability to cold 

15 

Annex 7: Identifying vulnerability to cold    

28. In developing criteria, LAs should refer to the NICE guideline NG6 on “Excess 
winter deaths and illness and the health risks associated with cold homes”, which 
identifies people with the following health conditions as being particularly 
vulnerable to cold:  

 
a) people with cardiovascular conditions 
b) people with respiratory conditions (in particular, chronic obstructive 

pulmonary disease and childhood asthma) 
c) people with mental health conditions, and  
d) people with disabilities 

29. Of the list provided above, cardiovascular and respiratory diseases are the key 
health conditions associated with excess winter deaths and illnesses.  

30. It is important to note that whilst people with these conditions are particularly 
vulnerable to cold, many conditions may be exacerbated by living in a cold home.  

31. While the health of people of all ages is affected by cold homes, older people are 
more likely to suffer health problems (such as heart attacks, strokes and chest 
infections), especially those living on their own who are socially isolated. The risk 
increases with older age, and those over 85 are the most vulnerable. Cold homes 
may also pose a risk to the health of children under 5, as well as to pregnant 
women and their babies. LAs should have particular regard for these groups.24 

32. Some groups are particularly vulnerable to cold homes, for example, those who 
are likely to spend a larger part of their time at home because of a long-term illness 
or a disability. Feedback received from LAs involved in the Booster Fund projects25 
suggested adding the following conditions to the list above:  

e) people who are terminally ill 
f) people with suppressed immune systems (e.g. from cancer treatment or HIV) 

33. In addition to the above, the NICE Quality Standard on Preventing excess winter 
deaths and illness associated with cold homes26 include further groups of people 
who are vulnerable to the health problems associated with a cold home, and which 
LAs may want to consider adding to their lists, specifically:  

g) people who move in and out of homelessness 
 
24 A useful reference on these issues is: ‘Hajat et al, Heat-related and cold-related deaths in England and 

Wales: who is at risk?’, BMJ journals, Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Volume 64, Issue 2.  
http://oem.bmj.com/content/64/2/93 

25 Health Booster Fund projects: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-fuel-poverty-and-health-
booster-fund 

26 The NICE quality standard is available here: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs117/chapter/Quality-
statement-2-Identifying-people-vulnerable-to-health-problems-associated-with-a-cold-home 

Page 71

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-fuel-poverty-and-health-booster-fund
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-fuel-poverty-and-health-booster-fund
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs117/chapter/Quality-statement-2-Identifying-people-vulnerable-to-health-problems-associated-with-a-cold-home
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs117/chapter/Quality-statement-2-Identifying-people-vulnerable-to-health-problems-associated-with-a-cold-home


Annex 7: Identifying vulnerability to cold 

16 

h) people with addictions 
i) people who have attended hospital due to a fall 
j) recent immigrants, asylum seekers and refugees (if living in private tenure) 

34. Other indicators of vulnerability to cold could be less immediate to identify, for 
example, living in a cold home can cause or exacerbate mental and physical health 
problems. A household that cannot afford to heat its home is likely to be under 
stress, for example if they are forced to live in the only heated room.  

35. Cold homes and health problems can spiral into further problems, for example low 
income households may need to choose between heating and food or other 
commodities. Others risk falling into debt, or have fallen into debt as a result of 
their health issues and high energy costs. Debt is therefore an additional factor 
that LAs may wish to take into consideration when identifying vulnerability to cold.   

  

Page 72



Annex 8: In-fill – examples 

17 

Annex 8: In-fill – examples  

36. This Annex covers examples, which are only illustrative and non-exhaustive, of 
projects where in-fill requirements have been met.  

37. It is important to bear in mind that where, in the examples given below, a property 
or properties are stated as not meeting the relevant eligibility criteria under LA-
Flex, LAs can consider whether they could be eligible for funding under the ECO 
criteria (e.g. if they are social housing EPC band E,F,G).  

38. Flexible eligibility only applies to private tenure, therefore all the properties on a 
declaration, including in-fill, must be private tenure, and in-fill only applies for the 
purposes of solid wall insulation (SWI). 

39. As set out in Chapter 7, in-fill households must be listed in an LA declaration 
alongside the FP or LIVC households in the SWI project that meet the relevant 
criteria. The LA must ensure that, for each project on a declaration, the minimum 
proportion of 50% eligible is met. 

40. The 50% minimum requirement means that at least one of two properties must be 
declared by the LA as FP or LIVC.  

41. This guidance has been simplified reflecting the 50% rule for all properties under 
LA Flex 

 
    Examples below include boxes representing whole households: 
 

Key Colour 
FP or LIVC 
(eligible) 

 

In-fill  
Not FP or 
LIVC27 

 

 
 

42. The following scenarios will typically refer to houses that directly adjoin onto one 
other property. “Directly adjoined” refers to two individual properties that join onto 
one another. This includes two semi-detached houses, two semi-detached 
bungalows, or a detached building containing two properties (e.g. one above the 
other). 

 
 

 
27 Such properties can be considered for social housing EPC bands E, F or G they can be eligible under 
Affordable Warmth (not flexible eligibility). 
 

Page 73



Annex 8: In-fill – examples 

18 

1. Example 1 – Semi-detached. The in-fill property directly adjoins the eligible property 
by a party wall. Other properties in red are not eligible as they are not LIHC or LIVC. 
Where an in-fill property identified by the LA is on the same street but does not adjoin 
the eligible property by a side wall, this would not meet the requirements for infill 
eligibility. 

 
  

 
      

 
                         

2. Example 2 - Detached building containing two properties. The in-fill properties 
directly adjoin an eligible property by being directly above or below an eligible property 
and there being no more than 2 properties in the building. Other properties in red are not 
eligible as they are not FP or LIVC and do not directly adjoin FP or LIVC properties.  

 
     
     

 
 

3. Example 3 – Semi-detached, one containing two flats. The flats on the right are not 
eligible as although they directly adjoin, they are not in a building containing no more 
than two domestic premises. As such 50% eligibility does not apply. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
4. The following scenarios will typically refer to a row of houses (including straight or “L” 

shaped) that are part of a continuous structure without a gap between them. Where 
houses have an access alleyway between them, but the top sections of the properties 
join, these are “same terrace”. 

5. Where houses are in immediately adjacent buildings to a terrace (eg separated from 
the terrace by an alleyway), they can be considered part of the terrace for the purposes 
of being counted towards in-fill, as long as the immediately adjacent property is included 
in the declaration and the required proportions of FP and LIVC are met.  The 
immediately adjacent property does not need to be the end property.  It can be any 
property in the adjacent terrace.   

6. Not all the properties in one terrace need to be included in the SWI project in order for 
the project to be eligible under flexible eligibility, nor do they need to be immediately 
adjacent, as long as they are in the same terrace and the required proportions of FP 
and LIVC within the SWI project are met. See example 4.  

7. Example 4 - Same terrace. In this example, all 10 properties in the same terrace have 
been included in an LA declaration. As at least 50% of the properties for which an LA 
declaration has been provided are FP or LIVC (5 out of 10), the remaining 5 that are 
not FP or LIVC, are eligible for solid wall insulation. 

Page 74



Annex 8: In-fill – examples 

19 

 

          
 

8. Example 5 - Same terrace. In this example, 4 of the 12 properties in the terrace have 
been included in the LA declaration. 2 of 4 properties for which an LA declaration has 
been provided are FP or LIVC – therefore the minimum 50% threshold has been met. 
The other eight properties in red are not eligible under flexible eligibility rules (otherwise 
the 50% eligibility criteria would not be met). 

 
            

 
9. Example 6 – Same terrace separated by a road. All of the properties in the top terrace 

are eligible under flexible eligibility on the basis of 4 being either FP or LIVC and the 
remaining 4 being part of the same terrace. The bottom terrace act independently from 
the top and are not considered the same terrace or an immediately adjacent building 
to the top terrace as they are separated by a road. As 3 properties in the bottom row 
are FP or LIVC, an additional 3 properties in the row can be counted as in-fill. An 
additional 5 properties cannot be counted as in-fill otherwise the proportions would not 
be met.  

          

        
 

ROAD 
 
        

 
10. “Same building” will typically refer to multiple properties in the same structure (e.g. 

block of flats). “Immediately adjacent buildings” are buildings that do not physically 
join but are separated by an alleyway, footpath, side garden or fence, for example. 
Roads that contain terrace houses only, but are Buildings separated by a road on which 
motorised vehicles travel are not considered adjacent, although if the alleyway is used 
by motorised vehicles for parking purposes only, then this would be allowed. 

11. Similarly, not all the properties in the same block of flats need to be immediately 
adjacent to each other in order to be eligible under flexible eligibility, as long as the 
required proportion of FP and LIVC properties are achieved and the properties are in 
the same or immediately adjacent block of flats. This could be useful where some flats 
in the block of flats are in social housing, and therefore could not be counted towards 
flexible eligibility. See example 7.  

12. Example 7 – Block of flats. This represents a block of flats which requires SWI. 18 
flats are declared FP or LIVC. As such, up to a further 18 other flats which are not FP 
or LIVC can be declared as in-fill, and as such the 50% minimum threshold has been 
met.  

 
   
   

Page 75



Annex 8: In-fill – examples 

20 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 
13. Example 8 – Blocks of flats. All the properties in Block A are eligible for SWI as 18 of 

27 (67%) are FP or LIVC. The other 9 can be classed as in-fill as they are part of the 
same building. In Block B, 11 of the 27 properties (41%) are FP or LIVC. This would 
mean that not all of the remaining 12 can be classed as in-fill if Block B was considered 
in isolation. However, as Block A & B are immediately adjacent buildings, then they 
may be amalgamated for the purposes of calculating in-fill. As 36 of 54 properties (54%) 
in Block A and B are eligible then the other 18 can be classed as in-fill. 

 
BLOCK A      BLOCK B 
       
       
       
   ALLEY/    
   GARDEN    
       
       
       
       

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

Agenda Item no. 8 
Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

 

REPORT of 

DIRECTOR OF SERVICE DELIVERY  

to 

COMMUNITY SERVICES COMMITTEE 

9 JULY 2019  

 

THE CROUCH VALLEY FESTIVAL OF FOOD AND DRINK 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

 To provide Members with an update on the Crouch Valley Festival of Food and Drink  1.1

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 

(i) That Members support and promote the forthcoming Festival and take the 

opportunity to visit the event over the weekend of the 20
th

 & 21
st
 July 2019. 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 

 Members will be aware of the fantastic growth of vineyards and breweries in the 3.1

Maldon District.  This festival was inspired by the desire to celebrate this and the 

area’s ‘Gastro Experience’. 

 

 The event is designed as a promotional tool for the area and brings forward Riverside 3.2

Park as an event venue.  

 

 The two-day event will celebrate the very best food and drink from the local area. 3.3

With live music and entertainment, activities, competitions, family fun and of course 

tasty food and delicious drinks, all with stunning riverside views.  This quality event 

has the potential to be a landmark on the Essex event calendar. 

 

 The event is supported by the Sense of Place Board and partly funded by the Magnox 3.4

Socio-Economic fund (£4,500).  Approximately £6,500 has been invested by the 

Council from existing tourism promotional budgets.  It is envisaged that the event will 

return that investment and provide a model for future years and events. 

4. CONCLUSION 

 

 Crouch Valley Festival of Food and Drink will provide an enjoyable weekend and has 4.1

the potential to be a landmark on the Essex event calendar. 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 

5.1 This project links to the Council’s strategic theme of supporting and encouraging 

Tourism. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



Agenda Item no. 8 

6. IMPLICATIONS 

 

(i) Impact on Customers – Crouch Valley Festival of Food and Drink will 

provide an enjoyable weekend for all. Efforts have been made to minimise any 

nuisance to the community. 

 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None – Disabled parking and facilities are being 

provided at the event 

(iii) Impact on Risk – The Event is being fully risk assessed. 

 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – The event is partly funded by the Magnox 

Socio-Economic fund and from existing tourism promotional budgets.  

 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – Management of the event is being achieved 

by existing staff resources. 

 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None – efforts are being made to reduce 

environmental impacts of the event.  

 

Background Papers: A short presentation will be made to members at the meeting, enclosed 

at APPENDIX 1. 

 

Enquiries to: Jack Ellum, Tourism and Events Manager  

Page 78



The

CROUCH VALLEY 

FESTIVAL 

OF FOOD AND DRINK 

20th & 21st July 2019

Riverside Park 

Burnham-on-Crouch

APPENDIX 1

P
age 79



The

CROUCH VALLEY 

FESTIVAL 

OF FOOD AND DRINK 

This two day event will celebrate the very best food 

and drink from the local area. With live music and 

entertainment, activities, competitions, family fun and 

of course tasty food and delicious drinks, all with 

stunning riverside views. This quality event promises to 

be a landmark on the Essex event calendar.

P
age 80



P
age 81



P
age 82



P
age 83



P
age 84



P
age 85



P
age 86



Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 95

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes

	7 Ecoflex Home Energy Scheme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	1. Introduction
	2. Key changes in this document since publication of Flexible Eligibility guidance April 2017
	3. Key requirements
	4. Key roles and responsibilities
	5. Statement of Intent
	6. LA declaration
	7. Targeting flexible eligibility
	8. Annual reports and keeping evidence
	9. Working with energy suppliers and intermediaries
	10. The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)
	Annex 1: Affordable Warmth household eligibility
	Annex 2: Flexible eligibility process map
	Annex 3: Statement of Intent template
	Annex 4: ECO 3 LA Declaration template
	Annex 5: ECO 3 LA Declaration template for “in-fill”
	Annex 6: Identifying fuel poor households
	Annex 7: Identifying vulnerability to cold
	Annex 8: In-fill – examples


	8 The Crouch Valley Festival of Food and Drink
	Crouch Valley Festival of Food and Drink Presentation - APPENDIX 1

	11 Advice Services Contract
	12 Concessions in Promenade Park
	Appendix 1




